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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

MCGRATH RENTCORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(unaudited)
 

   

Three Months Ended
September 30,

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

  

2003

  

2002

  

2003

  

2002

REVENUES                 
Rental   $ 19,592  $ 20,202  $ 56,252  $ 62,152
Rental Related Services    4,350   4,483   11,554   12,773

         
Rental Operations    23,942   24,685   67,806   74,925

Sales    10,719   15,752   25,496   33,061
Other    194   1,513   598   2,204

         
Total Revenues    34,855   41,950   93,900   110,190

         
COSTS AND EXPENSES                 

Direct Costs of Rental Operations                 
Depreciation of Rental Equipment    3,226   3,222   9,468   12,327
Rental Related Services    2,501   2,362   6,874   6,913
Impairment of Rental Equipment    —     —     —     24,083
Other    5,323   4,135   14,544   14,076

         
Total Direct Costs of Rental Operations    11,050   9,719   30,886   57,399

Costs of Sales    7,284   11,825   17,830   24,035
         

Total Costs    18,334   21,544   48,716   81,434
         

Gross Margin    16,521   20,406   45,184   28,756
Selling and Administrative    5,623   5,084   16,873   17,103

         
Income from Operations    10,898   15,322   28,311   11,653

Interest    647   951   2,085   3,175
         

Income Before Provision for Income Taxes    10,251   14,371   26,226   8,478
Provision for Income Taxes    4,090   5,719   10,464   3,374

         
Income Before Minority Interest    6,161   8,652   15,762   5,104

Minority Interest in Income of Subsidiary    95   159   89   182
         

Net Income   $ 6,066  $ 8,493  $ 15,673  $ 4,922

         
Earnings Per Share:                 

Basic   $ 0.50  $ 0.68  $ 1.29  $ 0.39
Diluted   $ 0.50  $ 0.68  $ 1.28  $ 0.39

Shares Used in Per Share Calculation:                 
Basic    12,080   12,483   12,127   12,462
Diluted    12,242   12,556   12,254   12,628

                 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MCGRATH RENTCORP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

 

(in thousands)

  

September 30,
2003

  

December 31,
2002

 
   (unaudited)     
ASSETS          
Cash   $ 4  $ 4 
Accounts Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful Accounts of $650 in 2003 and $1,000 in 2002    42,390   33,249 

Rental Equipment, at cost:          
Relocatable Modular Buildings    303,021   285,901 
Electronic Test Instruments    36,509   39,786 

    
    339,530   325,687 

Less Accumulated Depreciation    (107,087)   (103,788)
    

Rental Equipment, net    232,443   221,899 
    
Property, Plant and Equipment, net    47,698   48,379 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets    14,552   9,603 
    

Total Assets   $ 337,087  $ 313,134 

    
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY          
Liabilities:          

Notes Payable   $ 55,961  $ 55,523 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities    32,456   29,889 
Deferred Income    31,639   17,337 
Minority Interest in Subsidiary    2,809   3,107 
Deferred Income Taxes, net    75,538   68,259 

    
Total Liabilities    198,403   174,115 

    
Shareholders’ Equity:          

Common Stock, no par value -
Authorized — 40,000 shares
Outstanding — 12,108 shares in 2003 and 12,490 shares in 2002    17,155   16,320 

Retained Earnings    121,529   122,699 
    

Total Shareholders’ Equity    138,684   139,019 
    

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity   $ 337,087  $ 313,134 

    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MCGRATH RENTCORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)
 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 
(in thousands)

  

2003

  

2002

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:          

Net Income   $ 15,673  $ 4,922 
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:          

Depreciation and Amortization    10,940   13,890 
Impairment of Rental Equipment    —     24,083 
Provision for Doubtful Accounts    255   1,055 
Gain on Sale of Rental Equipment    (4,051)   (4,783)
Loss on Sale of Land    —     26 
Change In:          

Accounts Receivable    (9,396)   (4,523)
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets    (4,949)   847 
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities    2,183   (1,055)
Deferred Income    14,302   3,795 
Deferred Income Taxes    7,279   1,188 

    
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities    32,236   39,445 

    
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:          

Purchase of Rental Equipment    (27,160)   (16,707)
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment    (790)   (125)
Proceeds from Sale of Land    —     175 
Proceeds from Sale of Rental Equipment    11,107   14,524 

    
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities    (16,843)   (2,133)

    
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:          

Net Borrowings (Repayments) Under Bank Lines of Credit    438   (31,442)
Proceeds from the Exercise of Stock Options    1,442   2,441 
Repurchase of Common Stock    (10,207)   —   
Payment of Dividends    (7,066)   (6,222)

    
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities    (15,393)   (35,223)

    
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash    —     2,089 

Cash Balance, Beginning of Period    4   4 
    
Cash Balance, End of Period   $ 4  $ 2,093 

    
Interest Paid During the Period   $ 2,568  $ 3,827 

    
Income Taxes Paid During the Period   $ 3,185  $ 2,187 

    
Dividends Declared, Not Yet Paid   $ 2,424  $ 2,248 

    
Rental Equipment Acquisitions, Not Yet Paid   $ 5,194  $ 3,495 

    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MCGRATH RENTCORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

September 30, 2003
 
NOTE 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 The consolidated financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 has not been audited, but in the opinion of management, all
adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring accruals, consolidation and eliminating entries) necessary for the fair presentation of the consolidated results of
operations, financial position, and cash flows of McGrath RentCorp (the “Company”) have been made. Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to
conform to current year presentation. The consolidated results of the nine months ended September 30, 2003 should not be considered as necessarily indicative of
the consolidated results for the entire year. It is suggested that these consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
notes thereto included in the Company’s latest Form 10-K.
 
NOTE 2. STOCK OPTIONS
 The Company accounts for stock-based compensation plans in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” under which compensation cost is recorded as the difference between the deemed fair value and the exercise price at the date of
grant, and is recorded on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the underlying options. The Company has adopted the disclosure only provisions of
Statement of Financial Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”. No compensation expense has been recognized in the
accompanying financial statements as the option terms are fixed and the exercise price equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant for all
options granted by the Company.
 

Had compensation cost for the stock-based compensation plans been determined based upon the fair value at grant dates for awards under those plans
consistent with the method prescribed by SFAS 123, net income would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:
 

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

  

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

   

2003

  

2002

Net Income, as reported   $ 15,673  $4,922
Pro Forma Compensation Expense, net of tax    382   382
     
Pro Forma Net Income   $ 15,291  $4,540

     
Earnings Per Share:         

Basic – as reported   $ 1.29  $ 0.39
Basic – pro forma    1.26   0.36

Diluted – as reported   $ 1.28  $ 0.39
Diluted – pro forma    1.25   0.36

 
4



Table of Contents

The fair value of options granted were estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the following assumptions:
 

   

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

 

   

2003

  

2002

 
Risk-free interest rates   3.6% 3.8%
Expected dividend yields   3.1% 3.1%
Expected volatility   35.0% 36.7%
Expected option life (in years)   7.5  7.5 

 
NOTE 3. EARNINGS PER SHARE
 Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed as net income divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the
period. Diluted EPS is computed as net income divided by the weighted average number of shares outstanding of common stock and common stock equivalents
for the period, including the dilutive effects of stock options and other potentially dilutive securities. Common stock equivalents result from dilutive stock options
computed using the treasury stock method and the average share price for the reported period. The weighted average number of dilutive options outstanding for
the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 was 127,633 and 153,609, respectively.
 
NOTE 4. IMPAIRMENT
 During the six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company’s RenTelco segment recorded $24.1 million of non-cash impairment charges, which primarily
reduced the net carrying value of its communications equipment. The impairment charge resulted from the depressed and low projected demand for RenTelco’s
rental products coupled with high inventory levels, particularly communications equipment. RenTelco’s business activity levels are directly attributable to the
continued broad-based weakness in the telecommunications industry. Since June 30, 2002, there have been no additional impairment charges recorded. As of
September 30, 2003, the net carrying value of RenTelco’s rental equipment was $18.1 million, of which $7.5 million is communications equipment. There can be
no assurance that future impairment charges on rental equipment will not occur.
 
NOTE 5. BUSINESS SEGMENTS
 The Company defines its business segments based on the nature of operations for the purpose of reporting under SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information”. The Company’s three reportable segments are Mobile Modular Management Corporation (Modulars), RenTelco
(Electronics), and Enviroplex. The operations and accounting policies of these three segments are described in Notes 1 and 2 of the consolidated financial
statements included in the Company’s latest Form 10-K. The Corporate column in the table below is for the items related to the terminated merger with Tyco
International, which were not specifically allocated to a reportable segment. As a separate corporate entity, Enviroplex revenues and expenses are separately
maintained from Modulars and Electronics. Excluding interest expense, allocations of revenues and expenses not directly associated with Modulars or Electronics
are generally allocated to these segments based on their pro-rata share of direct revenues. Interest expense is allocated between Modulars and Electronics based
on their pro-rata share of average rental equipment, accounts receivable, deferred income and customer security deposits. The Company does not report total
assets by business segment. Summarized financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 for the Company’s reportable segments is
shown in the following table:
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(in thousands)

  

Modulars

  

Electronics

  

Enviroplex

  

Corporate1

  

Consolidated

Nine Months Ended September 30,                     
2003                     
Rental Revenues   $ 47,073  $ 9,179  $ —    $ —    $ 56,252
Rental Related Services Revenues    11,152   402   —     —     11,554
Sales and Other Revenues    13,253   5,729   7,112   —     26,094
Total Revenues    71,478   15,310   7,112   —     93,900
Depreciation of Rental Equipment    5,405   4,063   —     —     9,468
Impairment of Rental Equipment    —     —     —     —     —  
Interest Expense (Income) Allocation    1,948   272   (135)   —     2,085
Income before Provision for Income Taxes    23,397   2,233   596   —     26,226
Rental Equipment Acquisitions    23,017   4,053   —     —     27,070
Accounts Receivable, net (period end)    32,656   3,943   5,791   —     42,390
Rental Equipment, at cost (period end)    303,021   36,509   —     —     339,530
Rental Equipment, net book value (period end)    214,374   18,069   —     —     232,443
Utilization (period end) 2    85.8%  48.6%           
Average Utilization 2    84.0%  45.2%           

2002                     
Rental Revenues   $ 49,664  $ 12,488  $ —    $ —    $ 62,152
Rental Related Services Revenues    12,342   431   —     —     12,773
Sales and Other Revenues    14,997   7,703   11,315   1,250   35,265
Total Revenues    77,003   20,622   11,315   1,250   110,190
Depreciation of Rental Equipment    5,165   7,162   —     —     12,327
Impairment of Rental Equipment    —     24,083   —     —     24,083
Interest Expense (Income) Allocation    2,705   634   (164)   —     3,175
Income (Loss) before Provision for Income Taxes    29,239   (22,892)   1,474   657   8,478
Rental Equipment Acquisitions    14,051   2,099   —     —     16,150
Accounts Receivable, net (period end)    30,889   3,647   5,828   —     40,364
Rental Equipment, at cost (period end)    286,887   42,208   —     —     329,095
Rental Equipment, net book value (period end)    201,656   23,666   —     —     225,322
Utilization (period end) 2    86.4%  44.7%           
Average Utilization 2    86.0%  37.2%           

1 Corporate includes nonrecurring items related to the terminated merger with Tyco International in 2002, which were not allocated to a specific segment.
2 Utilization is calculated each month by dividing the cost of rental equipment on rent by the total cost of rental equipment excluding new equipment

inventory and accessory equipment. The average utilization for the period is calculated using the average costs of rental equipment.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements, which constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical facts included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q regarding the Company’s business strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues or losses, projected costs,
prospects, plans, objectives, the recovery of RenTelco’s business activities and financial results, the Company’s ability to sell rental equipment in excess of
required levels, and the sufficiency of the Company’s working capital expenditures through 2003 are forward-looking statements. These statements appear in a
number of places and can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “believes”, “expects”, “may”, “estimates”, “will”, “should”, “plans”
or “anticipates” or the negative thereof or other variations thereon or comparable terminology, or by discussions of strategy. All forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements and are cautioned
that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Actual results may vary materially from those in the forward-looking
statements as a result of various factors. These factors include: the effectiveness of management’s strategies and decisions; general economic and business
conditions and in particular the continuing weakness in the telecommunications industry; new or modified statutory or regulatory requirements relating to the
Company’s modular operations; changing prices and market conditions; additional impairment charges on the Company’s equipment; and fluctuations in the
Company’s rentals and sales of modular or telecommunications equipment. This report identifies other factors that could cause such differences. No assurance
can be given that these are all of the factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from the forward-looking statements.
 
Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003 and 2002
 The Company is comprised of three business segments: “Mobile Modular Management Corporation” (“MMMC”), its modular building rental division,
“RenTelco,” its electronic test equipment rental division, and “Enviroplex,” its majority-owned subsidiary classroom manufacturing business. Although the
Company’s primary emphasis is on equipment rentals, sales of equipment occur in the normal course of business. For the nine months ended September 30, 2003,
MMMC, RenTelco and Enviroplex contributed 89%, 9% and 2% of the Company’s pre-tax income, respectively.
 

The Company’s rental revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $0.6 million (3%) and $5.9 million (9%), respectively,
from the comparative periods in 2002.
 

 

• For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, MMMC’s rental revenues decreased $2.6 million (5%) from $49.7 million in 2002 to $47.1 million in
2003. MMMC’s rental revenue decrease is due to unexpected project delays by customers, lower average rental rates and an increased number of
equipment returns resulting in a decline of the nine-month average monthly yield from 2.02% in 2002 to 1.86% in 2003. Average monthly yield for the
period is calculated as average rental revenues divided by the average cost of rental equipment for the period. Changes in equipment utilization and
rental rates of equipment on rent can impact the average monthly yield for a period. For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, the mix of leases
remaining on rent during the first nine months of 2003 had lower rental rates on average than the prior year’s comparable period and the nine-month
average utilization for modulars, decreased from 86.0% in 2002 to 84.0% in 2003. Average utilization for the period is calculated by dividing the
average cost of rental equipment on rent by the average total cost of rental equipment for the period.

 

 

• The Company’s RenTelco division continues to be affected by the severe and prolonged broad-based weakness in the telecommunications industry,
which has significantly impacted the Company’s overall results in the first nine months of 2003. RenTelco’s rental revenue levels have declined 26%
from $12.5 million for the first nine months of 2002 to $9.2 million during the first nine months of 2003. For the nine months ended September 30,
2003, average utilization for electronics increased from 37.2% in 2002 to 45.2% in 2003 due to the 2002 equipment with the average monthly yield
increasing from 2.2% in 2002 to 2.7% in 2003, both increasing primarily as a result of the Company’s 2002 equipment write-downs and the selling of
underutilized equipment.
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During the first six months of 2002, the Company’s RenTelco segment recorded $24.1 million of impairment charges, and since June 30, 2002, the
Company has recorded no additional impairment charges. The impairment charges resulted from the depressed and low projected demand for RenTelco’s rental
products coupled with high inventory levels, particularly communications equipment. During the first quarter 2002, $11.9 million of the 2002 impairment charges
were recorded and worsening market demand in the second quarter of 2002 for communications equipment caused the additional $12.2 million of impairment
charges to be recorded. At September 30, 2003, RenTelco’s communications equipment had a net carrying value of $7.5 million, representing 42% of the
electronics inventory. There can be no assurance that future impairment charges on rental equipment will not occur.
 

Looking forward to the foreseeable future, the Company expects RenTelco’s business activity levels to be low until such time as the telecommunications
industry recovers. While management has limited visibility as to when the recovery in this sector will occur, management believes that adjusted equipment and
overhead expense levels are sufficient to meet demand in the near term, and positions RenTelco to increase its earnings contribution upon the recovery of the
telecommunications industry. However, there can be no assurance as to the success of RenTelco’s operations and financial results in connection with any such
recovery. If business levels were to decline further, the Company is subject to the risk that additional equipment may become impaired which would adversely
impact the Company’s future reported results. The Company will continue to sell rental equipment determined to be in excess of the required levels to meet
projected customer rental demand. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in these efforts.
 

Depreciation of rental equipment for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $2.9 million (23%) compared to the prior year’s period due to
the RenTelco equipment write-downs discussed above, which resulted in the classification of some equipment as non-depreciable equipment held for sale and
lowered the monthly depreciation expense on written down rental equipment. The decrease in depreciation expense was offset in part by depreciation related to
rental equipment additions. For MMMC, for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, depreciation expense as a percentage of rental revenues increased to
11% from 10% in the prior year’s comparable period. For RenTelco, the effect of 43% lower depreciation expense and 26% lower rental revenues for the first
nine months of 2003 as compared to the first nine months of 2002, resulted in a decrease in depreciation expense as a percentage of revenues from 57% in 2002 to
44% in 2003.
 

Other direct costs of rental operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 increased $1.2 million (29%) and $0.5 million (3%),
respectively, over last year’s comparable periods primarily due to higher MMMC expenses related to the preparation of equipment for shipment during the third
quarter. For the nine-month period, consolidated gross margin percentage on rents increased from 18.8% in 2002, which included RenTelco’s $24.1 million
impairment charge, to 57.3% in 2003.
 

Rental related services revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $0.1 million (3%) and $1.2 million (10%),
respectively, from the comparative periods in 2002. These revenues are primarily associated with modulars and consist of services negotiated as an integral part of
the lease, which are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. For the nine-month period, the revenue decrease resulted from the change in
mix of leases within their original term. Gross margin percentage on these services for the nine months ended September 30 decreased from 45.9% in 2002 to
40.5% in 2003.
 

Sales revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $5.0 million (32%) and $7.6 million (23%), respectively, from the
comparable periods in 2002 as a result of lower sales volumes by Enviroplex, MMMC and RenTelco. Sales continue to occur routinely as a normal part of the
Company’s rental business; however, these sales can fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year depending on customer requirements, equipment
availability and funding. Consolidated gross margin percentage on sales for the nine-month period increased from 27.3% in 2002 to 30.1% in 2003.
 

Enviroplex’s backlog of orders as of September 30, 2003 and 2002 was $7.1 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Backlog is not significant in MMMC’s
modular business or in RenTelco’s electronics business.
 

Selling and administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 increased $0.5 million (11%) and decreased $0.2 million
(1%), respectively, from the comparable 2002 periods. For the three month-period, the $0.5 million increase primarily resulted from higher personnel and benefit
costs of $0.6 million and professional fees of $0.1 coupled with lower bad debt expense of $0.2 million. For the nine-month period, the
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$0.2 million decrease primarily resulted from lower bad debt expense of $0.8 million and expenses incurred in 2002 related to the terminated merger with Tyco
International of $0.6 million, offset by increases in health and workers compensation insurance of $0.6 million and professional fees of $0.5 million.
 

Interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $0.3 million (32%) and $1.1 million (34%), respectively, primarily as a
result of lower debt levels from the comparative prior year periods.
 

Income before provision for taxes for the three months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $4.1 million primarily due to lower sales volume and the
$1.25 million reimbursement of merger expenses received from Tyco in 2002. For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, pre-tax income increased $17.7
million over 2002 due primarily to impairment charges recorded in 2002 related to RenTelco’s rental equipment. RenTelco’s pre-tax contribution for the nine
months ended September 30, 2003 was $2.2 million compared to a pre-tax loss of $22.9 million in 2002, which included the impairment charges noted above.
During the first nine months of 2003, RenTelco’s pre-tax income was positively impacted from selling underutilized equipment for sales gains of $1.9 million.
There can be no assurance that the positive contribution from the sale of underutilized equipment will continue to occur.
 

Net income for the three months ended September 30, 2003 decreased $2.4 million to $6.1 million, or $0.50 per share, in 2003 from $8.5 million, or $0.68
per share, in 2002. For comparability of the three-month period results, excluding the $1.25 million reimbursement of merger expenses related to the terminated
merger agreement, net income and earnings per share would have decreased from $7.7 million and $0.62 per diluted share in 2002 to $6.1 million and $0.50 per
diluted share in 2003. Net income for the nine-months ended September 30, 2003 increased $10.8 million to $15.7 million, or $1.28 per share, in 2003 from $4.9
million, or $0.39 per share, in 2002. For comparability of the nine-month period results, excluding the 2002 impairment charges and net merger income related to
the terminated merger agreement, net income and earnings per share would have decreased from $19.0 million and $1.51 per diluted share in 2002 to $15.7
million and $1.28 per diluted share in 2003.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 This section contains statements that constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
See the statements at the beginning of Item 2 for cautionary information with respect to such forward-looking statements.
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2003, the Company’s cash flow from operations plus the proceeds from the sale of rental equipment decreased
$10.8 million (20%) from $54.1 million in 2002 to $43.3 million in 2003 due to lower earnings and sales proceeds. During 2003, the primary uses of cash have
been to purchase $27.2 million of rental equipment, primarily modulars, to satisfy customer requirements, repurchase $10.2 million of the Company’s common
stock and pay dividends of $7.1 million to the Company’s shareholders. As a result of the cash activity during the first nine months of 2003, borrowings under the
Company’s lines of credit increased $0.5 million from $55.5 million to $56.0 million.
 

The Company had total liabilities to equity ratios of 1.43 to 1 and 1.25 to 1 as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. The debt (notes
payable) to equity ratios were 0.40 to 1 as of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002. The Company’s credit facility related to its cash management services
facilitates automatic borrowings and repayments with the bank on a daily basis depending on the Company’s cash position and allows the Company to maintain
minimal cash balances. At September 30, 2003, the Company had unsecured lines of credit which expire June 30, 2004 that permit it to borrow up to $125.0
million of which $40.0 million was outstanding.
 

The Company has made purchases of shares of its common stock from time to time in market transactions (NASDAQ) and/or through privately negotiated,
large block transactions under an authorization of the Board of Directors. Shares repurchased by the Company are cancelled and returned to the status of
authorized but unissued stock. During the nine months ended September 30, 2003, the Company repurchased 462,900 shares of its outstanding common stock for
an aggregate purchase price of $10.2 million (or an average price of $22.05 per share). As of October 30, 2003, 1,000,000 shares remain authorized for
repurchase.
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The Company believes that its needs for working capital and capital expenditures through 2003 will be adequately met by cash flow and bank borrowings.
 
ITEM 3. MARKET RISK
 The Company currently has no material derivative financial instruments that expose the Company to significant market risk. The Company is exposed to
cash flow and fair value risk due to changes in interest rates with respect to its notes payable. The Company believes that the carrying amounts for cash, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, and notes payable approximate their fair value, except for the fixed rate debt included in notes payable which has an estimated fair
value of $16.8 million compared to the recorded value of $16.0 million as of September 30, 2003. The estimate of fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt is
based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for bank loans with similar terms and average maturities.
 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 The Company’s management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial
Officer (CFO), performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30,
2003. Based on that evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective. There have been no
significant changes in the Company’s internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to their evaluation.
 

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
 Dividends
 On August 28, 2003, the Company declared a quarterly dividend on its Common Stock; the dividend was $0.20 per share. Subject to its continued
profitability and favorable cash flow, the Company intends to continue the payment of quarterly dividends.
 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
 (a) Exhibits.
 

10.1  McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as amended and restated on September 12, 2003.

10.2  McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Trust Agreement, as amended and restated on September 12, 2003.

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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(b) Reports on Form 8-K.
 The Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on July 31, 2003 regarding the 2nd Quarter 2003 earnings press release.
 

SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

Date: October 30, 2003    MCGRATH RENTCORP

 

 

By:
 

/s/ Thomas J. Sauer

  Thomas J. Sauer
 

 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Chief Accounting Officer)
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McGRATH RENTCORP
 EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP PLAN
 
Section 1. NATURE OF PLAN.
 (a) The purpose of this Plan is to enable participating Employees of the Company and of any participating affiliates to share in the growth and prosperity of
the Company and to provide Participants with an opportunity to accumulate capital for their future economic security. A primary purpose of the Plan is to enable
Participants to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company. Consequently, Employer Contributions made to the Trust will be primarily invested in Employer
Securities.
 

(b) This Plan, originally effective as of January 1, 1985, and amended and restated effective as of January 1, 1989, and amended from time to time, is
amended and herein restated effective as of September 12, 2003. The Plan is intended to qualify as an Employee Stock Ownership Plan, as defined in Section
4975(e)(7) of the Internal Revenue Code (hereinafter referred to as the “Code”), and as a stock bonus plan under Section 401(a) of the Code. This Plan is adopted
as an amendment and restatement of the Company’s existing Employee Stock Ownership Plan, originally effective as of January 1, 1985. Effective as of January
1, 2002, this Plan reflects certain provisions of the Economic Growth and Tax Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 (“EGTRRA”), intended as good faith compliance
with the requirements of EGTRRA. Such EGTRRA provisions, if applicable, shall be construed in accordance with EGTRRA and the guidance issued thereunder,
and shall supercede those specific provisions of the Plan to the extent those provisions are inconsistent with the EGTRRA provisions.
 

All Trust assets acquired under this Plan as a result of Employer Contributions, income and other additions to the Trust will be administered, distributed,
forfeited and otherwise governed by the provisions of this Plan which is administered by the Committee for the exclusive benefit of Participants in the Plan and
their Beneficiaries. It is intended that all benefits, rights and features of this Plan be uniformly available to all Participants.
 
Section 2. DEFINITIONS.
 In this Plan, whenever the context so indicates, the singular or plural number shall each be deemed to include the other, and the capitalized words shall
have the following meanings:
 

ACCOUNT
 One of several Accounts maintained to record the interest of a Participant in the Plan.
 

AFFILIATED COMPANY
 Any Company which is a member of a controlled group of corporations (as defined in Section 414(b) of the Code) which includes the Employer, any

trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is under common control (as defined in Section 414(c) of the Code) with the Employer, any
affiliated service group which includes the Employer (as defined in Section 414(m) of the Code), and any other entity required to be aggregated with
the Employer under Section 414(o) of the Code. For purposes of Code Section 415 limits, the definition of Affiliated Company shall be expanded in
accordance with Code Section 415(h).

 
ALTERNATE PAYEE

 A spouse, former spouse, child or other dependent of a Participant who is recognized by a Domestic Relations Order as having a right to receive all
or a portion of the benefits otherwise payable to a Participant.

 
ANNIVERSARY DATE

 The 31st day of December of each year.
 

ANNUAL ADDITIONS
 The aggregate of amounts credited to a Participant’s Accounts each year from Employer Contributions, Forfeitures, and a Participant’s voluntary

contributions (if any) under all defined contribution plans of an Employer or Affiliated Company; provided, however, that Employer Contributions
applied to the payment of interest on a Securities Acquisition Loan and Forfeitures of Employer Securities purchased with the proceeds of a
Securities Acquisition Loan shall be excluded if no more than one-third (a) of the Employer Contribution deductible under Section 404(a)(9) of the
Code for that year is allocated to the Accounts of Highly Compensated Employees. Amounts allocated after March 31, 1984 to an individual medical
account (as defined
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in Section 415(l)(2) of the Code) which is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the Company shall be treated as an Annual Addition. Any
amounts attributable to postretirement medical benefits allocated to the separate account of a Key Employee (as defined in Section 419A(d)(3) of the
Code) under any Welfare Benefit Plan (as defined in Section 419(e) of the Code) after December 31, 1985 shall be treated as an Annual Addition. A
restored Forfeiture, a transfer from another qualified pension plan and a rollover contribution (if any) shall not be counted as an Annual Addition.
For purposes of Code Section 415 limits, the definition of Annual Additions shall be expanded in accordance with Code Section 415(h).

 
BENEFICIARY

 The person or persons entitled to receive any benefits under the Plan in the event of a Participant’s death.
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 The board of directors of the Company.
 

BREAK IN SERVICE
 A Plan Year during which a Participant has not completed more than 500 Hours of Service; provided, however, that for purposes of Section 3 of the

Plan, the Eligibility Computation Period will be used to measure Breaks in Service.
 

CODE
 The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
 

COMMITTEE
 Also known as the “Plan Committee”, appointed by the Board of Directors to administer the Plan, subject to such limitations as are set forth under

this Plan.
 

COMPANY
 McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation, a public company whose shares are traded on the Nasdaq system under the symbol “MGRC”.
 

COMPANY STOCK
 Shares of any class of stock, preferred or common, voting or nonvoting, which are issued by the Company or by any affiliate of the Company, as

defined in Section 407(d) of ERISA, including Employer Securities and Qualified Employer Securities.
 

COMPANY STOCK ACCOUNT
 The Account of a Participant which is credited with the shares of Company Stock purchased and paid for by the Trust or contributed to the Trust.
 

CONTRIBUTIONS
 Employer contributions which are deductible by an Employer under Section 404(a) of the Code.
 

COVERED COMPENSATION
 The Total Compensation paid to a Participant by the Employer for each Plan Year, including any salary deferrals under Sections 401(k) and 125 of

the Code, but excluding reimbursement or other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash and noncash), moving expenses, welfare benefits, and
deferred compensation except deferrals under Sections 401(k) and 125 of the Code.

 
However, the Covered Compensation of each Participant taken into account in determining allocations for any Plan Year beginning after December
31, 2001, shall not exceed $200,000, as adjusted for cost-of-living increases in accordance with Section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. Covered
Compensation means compensation during the Plan Year.

 
DEFERRED RETIREMENT

 Termination of service subsequent to attainment of the Normal Retirement Date.
 

DIRECT ROLLOVER
 A payment by the Plan to the Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee.
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DISABILITY
 If a Participant terminated employment because of a total and permanent disability, the Participant will be given a Disability Retirement without

regard to age or length of service, and the benefit shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the amounts in all of the Participant’s Accounts. Disability
shall mean the Participant’s entitlement to Social Security disability benefits.

 
DISQUALIFIED PERSON

 The term “Disqualified Person” shall mean a person who is a fiduciary with respect to the Plan; a person providing services to the Plan; an Employer
any of whose employees are covered by the Plan; an employee organization any of whose members are covered by the Plan; an owner, directly or
indirectly, of fifty percent (50%) or more of (i) the total combined voting power of all classes of voting stock or of the total value of all classes of the
stock of a corporation, (ii) the capital interest or the profits interest of a partnership, or (iii) the beneficial interest of a trust or unincorporated
enterprise, which is an Employer or an employee organization any of whose employees or members are covered by the Plan; a member of the family
of any Disqualified Person; a corporation, partnership, trust or estate of which (or in which) fifty percent (50%) or more of (i) the combined voting
power of all classes of stock entitled to vote or the total value of all classes of stock of such corporation, (ii) the capital interest or profits interest of
such partnership, or (iii) the beneficial interest of such trust or estate is owned, directly or indirectly, or held by Disqualified Persons; an employee,
officer, director (or any individual having powers, similar powers and responsibilities), a ten percent (10%) or more shareholder, or a highly
compensated employee (earning ten percent (10%) or more of the yearly wages of an employer) of a Disqualified Person; or a ten percent (10%) or
more (in capital or profits) partner or joint venturer of a Disqualified Person.

 
DISTRIBUTEE

 Any Employee or former Employee. In addition, the Employee’s or former Employee’s surviving spouse and the Employee’s or former Employee’s
spouse or former spouse who is the Alternate Payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code, are
Distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.

 
DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER

 Any judgment, decree, or order (including approval of a property settlement agreement) which is made pursuant to a State domestic relations law
and which relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments or marital property rights to a spouse, former spouse, child or other dependent
of a Participant.

 
EFFECTIVE DATE

 The Effective Date of this amended and restated Plan is September 12, 2003.
 

ELIGIBILITY COMPUTATION PERIOD
 To determine Years of Service and Breaks in Service for purposes of eligibility, the initial 12-month period shall commence on the date the

Employee first performs an Hour of Service for the Company. The second 12-month period shall be the Plan Year which commences prior to the end
of the initial 12-month period, regardless of whether the Employee is entitled to be credited with 1,000 Hours of Service during the initial eligibility
computation period. An Employee who is credited with 1,000 Hours of Service in both the initial eligibility computation period and the first Plan
Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the Employee’s initial eligibility computation period will be credited with two Years of
Service for purposes of eligibility to participate. All subsequent computation periods will continue to be determined on the Plan Year.

 
ELIGIBLE RETIREMENT PLAN

 An individual retirement account described in Section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in Section 408(b) of the Code,
an annuity plan described in Section 403(a) of the Code, or a qualified trust described in Section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the Distributee’s
Eligible Rollover Distribution. However, in the case of an Eligible Rollover Distribution to the surviving spouse, an Eligible Retirement Plan is an
individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity.
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For purposes of distributions made after December 31, 2001, the definition of Eligible Retirement Plan shall also mean an annuity contract described
in Section 403(b) of the Code and an eligible plan under Section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or
any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately account for amounts transferred into such
plan from this Plan. The definition of Eligible Retirement Plan shall also apply in the case of a distribution to a surviving spouse, or to a spouse or
former spouse who is the Alternate Payee under a qualified Domestic Relation Order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code.

 
ELIGIBLE ROLLOVER DISTRIBUTION

 Any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the Distributee, except that an Eligible Rollover Distribution does not include:
any hardship distribution described in Section 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(IV), any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments
(not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the Distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the
Distributee and the Distributee’s designated Beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more; any distribution to the extent such
distribution is required under Section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross income (determined
without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to Employer Securities).

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for all distributions made after December 31, 2001, for purposes of Section 14(h) of the Plan, a portion of a
distribution shall not fail to be an Eligible Rollover Distribution merely because the portion consists of after-tax employee contributions which are
not includable in gross income. However, such portion may be transferred only to an individual retirement account or annuity described in Section
408(a) or (b) of the Code, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code that agrees to separately
account for amounts so transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includable in gross income and the
portion of such distribution which is not so includable.

 
EMPLOYEE

 A person, employed by an Employer, any portion of whose income is subject to withholding of income tax and/or for whom Social Security
contributions are made by an Employer, as well as any other person qualifying as a common law employee of an Employer. Employee shall include
Leased Employees unless: (i) such Employee is covered by a money purchase pension plan providing: (1) a nonintegrated Employer contribution
rate of at least ten percent (10%) of compensation, as defined in Section 415(c)(3) of the Code, but including amounts contributed pursuant to a
salary reduction agreement which are excludable from the Employee’s gross income under Section 125, Section 402(e)(3), Section 402(h) or Section
403(b) of the Code; (2) immediate participation; and (3) full and immediate vesting; and (ii) Leased Employees do not constitute more than twenty
percent (20%) of the Company’s nonhighly compensated work force.

 
“Employee” shall not include any individual who is either (i) engaged by the Company as an independent contractor or (ii) not reflected on the
payroll records of the Company as a common law employee solely on account of the reclassification of such individual by the Internal Revenue
Service, a court or administrative agency as a common law employee.

 
EMPLOYER

 McGrath RentCorp and any other affiliate of the Company, as defined in Section 407(d) of the ERISA, or any predecessor or successor corporation,
which has been designated by the Company as an Employer participating in the Plan, and which has accepted such designation and has agreed to be
bound by the terms of the Plan and Trust Agreement.

 
EMPLOYER SECURITIES

 Common stock issued by the Company (or by a corporation which is a member of the same controlled group) which is readily tradable on an
established securities market. Noncallable preferred stock shall be treated as Employer Securities if such stock is convertible at any time into
common stock which meets the above requirements, and if (as of the date of acquisition by the Plan) the conversion price is reasonable.
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EMPLOYMENT COMMENCEMENT DATE
 The date on which the Employee shall first perform an Hour of Service for the Employer.
 

ENTRY DATE
 The first day of January and the first day of July of each year.
 

ERISA
 The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
 

FISCAL YEAR
 The annual accounting period adopted by the Company for federal income tax purposes.
 

FORFEITURES
 The portion of a Participant’s Accounts which does not become part of the Participant’s Plan Benefit. See Section 13 of the Plan.
 

HIGHLY COMPENSATED EMPLOYEE
 The term “Highly Compensated Employee” shall mean: (a) a Highly Compensated Former Employee of the Company as well as (b) a Highly

Compensated Current Employee. The term “Highly Compensated Current Employee” shall mean any Employee who:
 
 (A) was a five percent (5%) owner at any time during the year or the preceding year, or
 

 
(B) for the preceding year, had Total Compensation from the Company and/or from an Affiliated Company in excess of eighty-five thousand

dollars ($85,000) (indexed at such time and in such manner as the Secretary of the Treasury may provide), and was in the top-paid group of
Employees (i.e., was among the top twenty percent (20%) of Employees in compensation) for such preceding year.

 
The determination of who is a Highly Compensated Employee, including the determination of the number and identity of Employees in the top-paid
group, will be made in accordance with the provisions of Section 414(q) of the Code and the regulations thereunder.

 A former employee shall be treated as a “Highly Compensated Former Employee” if such employee was a Highly Compensated Employee when he
separated from service or was a Highly Compensated Employee at any time after attaining age fifty-five (55).

 
HOUR OF SERVICE

 (a) Each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, for the performance of duties for the Employer or any Affiliated Company
during the applicable computation period.

 
(b) Each hour for which an Employee is paid, or entitled to payment, by the Employer or any Affiliated Company on account of a period of time
during which no duties are performed (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) due to vacation, holiday, illness,
incapacity (including disability), layoff, jury duty, military duty or leave of absence. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, (1) no more than 501
Hours of Service will be credited under this paragraph (b) to an Employee on account of any single continuous period during which the Employee
performs no duties (whether or not such period occurs in a single computation period); (2) an hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly
paid, or entitled to payment, during a period in which no duties are performed, will not be credited to the Employee if such payment is made or due
under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of complying with applicable workmen’s compensation, unemployment compensation or disability
insurance laws; and (3) Hours of Service will not be credited for a payment which solely reimburses an Employee for medical or medically related
expenses incurred by the Employee. For purposes of this paragraph (b), a payment shall be deemed to be made by or due from an Employer or an
Affiliated Company regardless of whether such payment is made by or due from the Employer or an Affiliated Company directly or indirectly
through, among others, a trust fund, or insurer, to which the Employer or an Affiliated Company contributes or pays premiums and regardless of
whether contributions made or due to the trust fund, insurer or other entity are for the benefit of particular Employees or are on behalf of a group of
Employees in the aggregate.
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(c) Each hour for which back pay, irrespective of mitigation of damages, is either awarded or agreed to by the Employer or an Affiliated Company.
 

(d) The determination of Hours of Service for reasons other than the performance of duties, and the crediting of Hours of Service to computation
periods, shall be in accordance with U.S. Department of Labor Regulations Section 2530.200b-2 (b) and (c). There shall be no duplication of Hours
of Service under any of the foregoing provisions.

 
(e) In the case of a salaried Employee who is not paid on an hourly basis, Hours of Service shall be based on any available records which accurately
reflect the actual number of hours worked by such Employee. If such records do not exist, such Employee shall be credited with Hours of Service on
the basis of 45 hours for each week for which the Employee would be credited with at least one Hour of Service.

 
(f) For purposes of determining whether a Participant has incurred a one-year Break in Service, a Participant will be credited with Hours of Service
for (i) a leave of absence covered by the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, effective as of August 5, 1993, or (ii) certain periods of absence
from work by reason of the Participant’s pregnancy, the birth of a Participant’s child, the adoption of a Participant’s child, or caring for a
Participant’s child during the period immediately following the birth or adoption of such child. If the Participant’s normal work hours are known,
such Participant will be credited with the number of hours that normally would have been credited for such absence. If the Participant’s normal work
hours are not known, such Participant will be credited with eight Hours of Service for each normal workday during such absence. Not more than 501
Hours of Service shall be credited for such purposes in the Plan Year in which such absence commences if the Participant would otherwise incur a
Break in Service in such Plan Year; otherwise, such Hours of Service shall be credited in the following Plan Year if such absence continues in such
Plan Year.

 
LEASED EMPLOYEE

 Any person (other than an Employee of the Company) who pursuant to an agreement between the Company and any other person (“leasing
organization”) has performed services for the Company (or for the Company and related persons determined in accordance with Section 414(n)(6) of
the Code) on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one (1) year, and such services are performed under primary direction or control by
the Company. Contributions or benefits provided a Leased Employee by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the
Company shall be treated as provided by the Company.

 
LIMITATION YEAR

 For purposes of the limitations imposed by Section 415 of the Code, the Limitation Year shall be the Plan Year.
 

NORMAL RETIREMENT
 Termination of service upon attainment of the Normal Retirement Date.
 

NORMAL RETIREMENT DATE
 The date on which a Participant attains age sixty-five (65) or the fifth (5th) anniversary of the date the Participant commenced participation in this

Plan, whichever is later.
 

OTHER INVESTMENTS ACCOUNT
 The Account of a Participant which is credited with a share of the net income (or loss) of the Trust and Employer Contributions and Forfeitures in

other than Company Stock and which is debited with payments made to pay for Company Stock.
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PARTICIPANT
 Any Employee who is participating in this Plan as defined in Section 3 of the Plan or former Employee for whom an Account is maintained. A

Participant ceases to be a Participant when such Participant’s Account is closed after all amounts have been distributed or Forfeited.
 

PLAN
 The McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Plan, which includes the Plan and Trust Agreement.
 

PLAN BENEFIT
 The vested amount, as defined in Sections 12 and 13 of the Plan, of a Participant’s Accounts.
 

PLAN YEAR
 The twelve (12) month period ending on each Anniversary Date.
 

QUALIFIED ELECTION PERIOD
 The six (6) Plan Year period beginning with the first Plan Year in which the Participant first became a Qualified Participant.
 

QUALIFIED EMPLOYER SECURITIES
 Employer Securities which are issued by a domestic C corporation that has no securities outstanding that are readily tradable on an established

securities market, have been held for at least three (3) years by the seller and were not received by the seller in a distribution from a plan qualified
under Section 401(a) or in a transfer pursuant to an option or other right to acquire stock under Section 83, 422, 422A, 423 or 424 of the Code.

 
QUALIFIED PARTICIPANT

 Any Participant who has attained age fifty-five (55) and has completed ten (10) years of participation under the Plan.
 

QUALIFIED REPLACEMENT PROPERTY
 Any stock, bond, debenture, note, or other evidence of indebtedness issued by a domestic corporation (other than the Employer corporation or any

corporation which is a member of a parent-subsidiary controlled group which includes the Employer corporation) which does not, for the taxable
year preceding the taxable year in which such security is purchased, have passive investment income exceeding twenty-five percent (25%) of the
gross receipts of such corporation for such year.

 
RETIREMENT

 Termination of service due to Normal Retirement, Deferred Retirement or Disability.
 

SECURITIES ACQUISITION LOAN
 A loan which is used to purchase Employer Securities and which meets the requirements of paragraphs 1 and 2 of Section 6(c) of the Plan,

interpreted in accordance with the regulations of the Department of Labor for loans deemed to be “securities acquisition loans” for purposes of
ERISA.

 
STOCK BONUS PLAN

 The portion of the Plan which is designed to qualify as such and is subject to the rules pertaining to a stock bonus plan under Section 401(a) of the
Code.

 
SUSPENSE ACCOUNT

 The Suspense Account maintained by the Trust to which shall be credited all shares of Employer Securities purchased with the proceeds of a
Securities Acquisition Loan.

 
TOTAL COMPENSATION

 For purposes of Section 415 of the Code and the Top Heavy provisions in Section 21 of this Plan,
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(a) The term “Total Compensation” includes:
 (1) The Employee’s wages, salaries, fees for professional services, and other amounts received (without regard to whether or not an amount is paid in

cash) for personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the Employer maintaining the Plan to the extent that the amounts are
includable in gross income (including, but not limited to, commissions paid salesmen, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of
profits, commissions on insurance premiums, tips, bonuses, fringe benefits, and reimbursements or other expense allowances under a nonaccountable
plan (as described in Section 1.62-2(c) of the regulations under Section 62 of the Code).

 
Total Compensation also includes Code Section 132(f) elective reductions, elective deferrals to Section 401(k) plans and similar arrangements (for
example, Employer contributions under a salary reduction arrangement to purchase a Code Section 403(b) annuity), elective contributions to Code
Section 457 nonqualified deferred compensation plans and salary reductions made to a cafeteria plan.

 
(2) In the case of an Employee who is an employee within the meaning of Section 401(c)(1) of the Code and the regulations thereunder, the
Employee’s earned income (as described in Section 401(c)(2) of the Code and the regulations thereunder).

 
(3) Amounts described in Sections 104(a)(3), 105(a) and 105(h) of the Code, but only to the extent that these amounts are includable in the gross
income of the Employee.

 
(4) Amounts paid or reimbursed by the Employer for moving expenses incurred by an Employee, but only to the extent that at the time of the
payment it is reasonable to believe that these amounts are not deductible by the Employee under Section 217 of the Code.

 
(5) The value of a nonqualified stock option granted to an Employee by the Employer, but only to the extent that the value of the option is includable
in the gross income of the Employee for the taxable year in which granted.

 
(6) The amount includable in the gross income of an Employee upon making the election described in Section 83(b) of the Code.

 
(7) For purposes of subdivisions (1) and (2) of this subparagraph, foreign earned income (as defined in Section 911(b) of the Code), whether or not
excludable from gross income under Section 911 of the Code. Compensation described in subdivision (1) of this subparagraph is to be determined
without regard to the exclusions from gross income in Sections 931 and 933 of the Code. Similar principles are to be applied with respect to income
subject to Sections 931 and 933 of the Code in determining compensation described in subdivision (2) of this subparagraph.

 
(b) The term “Total Compensation” does not include items such as:

 (1) Employer contributions made on behalf of an Employee to a simplified employee pension plan described in Code Section 408(k) are not
considered as compensation for the taxable year in which contributed. Additionally, any distributions from a plan of deferred compensation are not
considered as compensation for Section 415 purposes, regardless of whether such amounts are includable in the gross income of the Employee when
distributed. However, any amounts received by an Employee pursuant to an unfunded nonqualified plan may be considered as compensation for
Code Section 415 purposes in the year such amounts are includable in the gross income of the Employee.

 
(2) Amounts realized from the exercise of a nonqualified stock option, or when restricted stock (or property) held by an Employee either becomes
freely transferable or is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (under Section 83 of the Code).

 
(3) Amounts realized from the sale, exchange or other disposition of stock acquired under a qualified stock option.
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(4) Other amounts which receive special tax benefits, such as premiums for group term life insurance (but only to the extent that the premiums are
not includable in the gross income of the Employee), or contributions made by an Employer (not under a salary deferral agreement) towards the
purchase of an annuity contract described in Section 403(b) of the Code (only if the contributions are excludable from the gross income of the
Employee).

 
TRUST

 The Trust created by the Trust Agreement entered into between the Company and the Trustee.
 

TRUST AGREEMENT
 The agreement between the Company and the Trustee or any successor Trustee establishing the Trust and specifying the duties of the Trustee.
 

TRUSTEE
 The Trustee (or Trustees) designated by the Company’s Board of Directors (and any successor Trustee). The Board of Directors may provide that any

person or group of persons may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity with respect to the Plan (including service as both Trustee and Committee
member).

 
UNITS

 A Participant shall be granted one (1) Unit for each one thousand dollars ($1,000) of Covered Compensation and two (2) Units for each Year of
Service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Highly Compensated Employees shall not receive Unit credits for any Years of Service.

 
VALUATION DATE

 The Anniversary Date coinciding with or immediately preceding the date of actual distribution of Plan Benefits. For purposes of the top heavy
provisions of this Plan, the Valuation Date is the most recent Anniversary Date within a twelve-month period ending on a Determination Date (as
defined in Section 21).

 
YEAR OF SERVICE

 For purposes of eligibility, a twelve (12) month period beginning on an Employee’s Employment Commencement Date during which an Employee is
credited with not less than 1,000 Hours of Service.

 
For purposes of vesting under Section 13, all Plan Years beginning on or after the Effective Date during which an Employee has completed 1,000 or
more Hours of Service, including any Plan Year during which such Participant has completed 1,000 or more Hours of Service but has not yet become
eligible to participate in the Plan.

 
In addition, for vesting purposes, a Participant, upon attaining age twenty-one (21), will be credited with all Years of Service with the Company
between the ages of eighteen (18) and twenty-one (21) after the original Effective Date of the Plan.

 
Years of Service also include, for purposes of vesting, all Years of Service recognized under the Company’s existing Employee Stock Ownership
Plan, prior to the Effective Date of this restated Plan.

 
Solely for purposes of allocations based on Units (in accordance with Section 11 of the Plan), a Year of Service shall include all years of employment
with the Employer prior to the Effective Date in which the Employee completed 1,000 or more Hours of Service within a Company fiscal year.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, service credit with respect to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Section 414(u) of the
Code.
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Section 3. ELIGIBILITY.
 Each Employee shall become eligible to participate in the Plan from and after the Entry Date coinciding with or next following the date on which the
Employee has completed a Year of Service, measured during the Eligibility Computation Period, provided the Employee has attained age twenty-one (21).
 

All Employees who were eligible to participate in the Company’s existing Employee Stock Ownership Plan on the adoption date of this restated Plan are
automatically eligible to participate in this Plan as of the Effective Date.
 

Upon the Employee so becoming eligible, participation shall be based on the total Covered Compensation paid to the Employee from and after said Entry
Date. If an Employee who has met the eligibility requirements leaves the service of the Employer and returns to service after the Entry Date without incurring a
one-year Break in Service, the Employee shall continue to be eligible to participate in the Plan immediately upon returning to service.
 

An Employee whose terms of employment with the Employer are covered by a collective bargaining agreement shall not be eligible to participate in the
Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event any such Employees cease to be subject to the collective bargaining agreement, Years of Service for purposes of
eligibility and vesting shall include years during which an Employee is covered by a collective bargaining agreement after the original Effective Date of the Plan.
 

An Employee who is a Leased Employee shall not be eligible to participate in this Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event an Employee ceases to
be a Leased Employee, Years of Service for purposes of eligibility and vesting shall include all Years of Service with the Employer after the original Effective
Date of the Plan.
 

Nonresident aliens who do not receive any earned income (as defined in Code § 911(d)(2)) from the Employer which constitutes United States source
income (as defined in Code § 861(a)(3)) are not eligible to participate in the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event an Employee ceases to be a
nonresident alien, Years of Service for purposes of eligibility and vesting shall include all Years of Service with the Employer after the original Effective Date of
the Plan.
 
Section 4. PARTICIPATION IN ALLOCATION OF BENEFITS.
 (a) Participation.
 Except in the case of death, Disability or Retirement, a Participant will share in the allocation of Employer Contributions and Forfeitures only if the
Participant is still employed on the last day of the Plan Year and has accumulated 1,000 or more Hours of Service during the Plan Year. Except in the case of
death, Disability or Retirement, a Participant who accumulates less than 1,000 Hours of Service during a Plan Year will not share in the allocation of Employer
Contributions and Forfeitures under Section 11 for such Plan Year, will not be given a Year of Service for purposes of vesting under Section 13, and shall become
an inactive Participant for that Plan Year.
 

A Participant reemployed following a Break in Service shall again resume participation in the Plan as of the date of reemployment for purposes of
vesting under Section 13 and for purposes of participating in Employer Contributions and Forfeitures under Section 11 (subject to the requirements of this Section
4 and Section 13 of the Plan). However, if the Participant is reemployed after a Break in Service and has no vested rights under the Plan and the number of
consecutive one-year Breaks in Service equals or exceeds five (5) years or the number of aggregate years of prebreak service, whichever is greater, the Participant
shall be treated as a new Employee for purposes of participation.
 

(b) Leave of Absence.
 A Participant’s employment is not considered terminated for purposes of the Plan if the Participant has been on leave of absence with the consent of
the Company, provided that the Participant returns to the employ of the Company within thirty (30) days after the leave (or within such longer period as may be
prescribed by law). Leave of absence shall mean a leave granted by the Company, in accordance with rules uniformly applied to all Participants, for reasons of
health or public service or for reasons determined by the Company to be in its best interests. Solely for purposes of preventing a Break in Service, a Participant on
such leave of absence shall be credited with eight (8) Hours of Service for each business day of the leave. A Participant who does not return to the employ of the
Company within the prescribed time following the end of the leave of absence shall be deemed to have terminated employment as of the date when the leave
began, unless such failure to return was the result of death, Disability or Retirement.
 

(c) Omission of Eligible Employee.
 If, in any Plan Year, any Employee who should be included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously omitted, and discovery of such omission is not
made until after a Contribution by the Employer for the Plan Year has been made, the Employer shall make a subsequent Contribution with respect to the omitted
Employee in the amount in which the Company would have contributed if he or she had not been omitted. Such Contribution shall be made regardless of whether
or not it is deductible in whole or in part in any taxable year under the applicable provisions of the Code.
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(d) Inclusion of Ineligible Employee.
 If, in any Plan Year, any Employee who should not have been included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously included, and discovery of such
incorrect inclusion is not made until after a Contribution by the Company for the year has been made, the Company shall not be entitled to recover the
Contribution made with respect to the ineligible Employee regardless of whether a deduction is allowable with respect to such Contribution. In such event, the
amount contributed with respect to the ineligible Employee shall constitute a Forfeiture for the Plan Year in which the discovery is made.
 

(e) Suspended Participation.
 A Participant who ceases to be an eligible Employee as described in Section 3 of the Plan, shall become a suspended Participant. During the period
of suspension, no amounts shall be credited to the Participant’s Accounts which are based on the Participant’s Covered Compensation from and after the date of
suspension. However, amounts previously credited to a Participant’s Accounts shall continue to vest and the Participant shall be entitled to benefits in accordance
with the provisions of Section 14(g) of this Plan throughout the period during which the Participant is on suspended status.
 

(f) Inactive Participation.
 A Participant who has more than 500 Hours of Service but less than 1,000 Hours of Service in any Plan Year shall be an inactive Participant for that
Plan Year. No amounts shall be credited to such Participant’s Accounts which are based on the Participant’s Covered Compensation for that Plan Year unless the
Participant terminates employment due to death, Disability or Retirement.
 

(g) Uniformed Services Participants.
 Notwithstanding the foregoing, participation in the allocation of Employer Contributions and Forfeitures with respect to a Participant’s qualified
military service will be provided in accordance with Section 414(u) of the Code.
 
Section 5. EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS.
 (a) Amount of Contribution.
 

Employer Contributions shall be made to the Trust in such amounts as may be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, provided that such
Contributions shall not exceed the maximum amounts deductible under Sections 404(a)(3) and 404(a)(9) of the Code. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Employer
Contributions may not be made in amounts which would permit the limitation described in Section 11(b) to be exceeded.
 (b) Time for Making Contribution.
 

Employer Contributions for each year must be established by resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors and paid to the Trust not later than the
due date for filing the Company’s federal income tax return for that year, including extensions of such date.
 (c) Form of Contribution.
 

Employer Contributions may be paid in cash, shares of Company Stock or other property as the Company’s Board of Directors may from time to
time determine.
 
Section 6. INVESTMENT OF TRUST ASSETS.
 (a) Authorized Investments.
 Employer Contributions in cash received by the Trust will be applied to pay any outstanding obligations of the Trust incurred for the purchase of
Employer Securities, or may be applied to purchase additional shares of Company Stock from current shareholders, treasury shares, or newly issued shares from
the Company. Shares of Company Stock and other property will be valued at their then fair market value. In the case of a security for which there is a generally
recognized market, fair market value shall be the price of the security prevailing on a national securities exchange which is registered under Section 6 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or which has been listed for more than one month on an electronic quotation system administered by a national securities
association registered under such Act. If the security is not so traded on a national securities exchange or so listed on such an electronic quotation system, fair
market value shall be a price not less favorable to the Plan than the offering price for the security as established by the current bid and asked prices quoted by
persons independent of the issuer and a party in interest.
 

(b) Investment Duties.
 All investments will be made by the Trustee in accordance with the provisions of the Trust. All purchases of Company Stock shall be made at no
more than fair market value, as determined by the Trustee. In the case of a purchase from a Disqualified Person, all purchases of Company Stock shall be made at
a price which does not exceed the fair market value of such shares as of the date of the transaction.
 

(c) Plan Loans.
 (1) The Trustee may, as directed by the Company, incur Plan loans from time to time to carry out the purposes of the Trust, provided that the loan is a
Securities Acquisition Loan, and the terms of the loan comply with the following requirements: Any such loan shall be for a specified term, shall bear a
reasonable rate of interest, and may only be secured by a collateral pledge of the Employer Securities so acquired. Any such loan shall
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be primarily for the benefit of Plan Participants and their Beneficiaries. No other Trust assets may be pledged as collateral by the Trustee, and no lender shall have
recourse against Trust assets other than any shares of Employer Securities remaining subject to pledge. Any pledge of Employer Securities must provide for the
release of shares so pledged pursuant to either the “General Rule” or the “Special Rule” set forth in Section 7. Shares of Employer Securities released from the
Suspense Account shall be allocated to Participants’ accounts in shares of stock or other nonmonetary units. Repayments of principal and interest on any
Securities Acquisition Loan shall be made by the Trustee only from Employer Contributions in cash to the Trust, from any cash dividends received by the Trust
on such Employer Securities or from any earnings attributable to the investment of Employer Contributions made to the Trust in cash to meet its obligations under
the loan. Such Contributions, dividends and earnings shall be accounted for separately in the books of accounts of the Plan until the Securities Acquisition Loan is
repaid. The proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan may be used only to acquire Employer Securities, to repay such loan or to repay a prior Securities
Acquisition Loan. The Plan may not obligate itself to acquire securities from a particular security holder at an indefinite time determined upon the happening of
an event such as the death of the holder. The protections and rights described in Section 16 are nonterminable. Should this Plan cease to be an Employee Stock
Ownership Plan, or should the Securities Acquisition Loan be repaid, all Employer Securities will continue to be subject to the provisions of Section 16. If
securities acquired with the proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan available for distribution consist of more than one class, a Distributee must receive
substantially the same portion of each such class.
 

(2) In the event of default upon a Securities Acquisition Loan, the value of Plan assets transferred in satisfaction of the loan must not exceed the
amount of default. If the lender is a Disqualified Person, a loan must provide for a transfer of Plan assets upon default only upon and to the extent of the failure of
the Plan to meet the payment schedule of the loan. For purposes of this paragraph, the making of a guarantee does not make a person a lender.
 

(d) Nonrecognition of Gain.
 (1) There shall be no recognition of gain upon a sale of Employer Securities to the Plan if (i) the seller has held such Securities for at least three (3)
years, (ii) after the purchase the Plan owns at least thirty percent (30%) of each class of outstanding stock of the Company (other than preferred stock described in
Section 1504(a)(4) of the Code), or thirty percent (30%) of the total value of all outstanding stock of the Company (other than preferred stock described in
Section 1504(a)(4) of the Code), (iii) the seller purchases Qualified Replacement Property within three (3) months prior to the sale or within twelve (12) months
after the sale, (iv) on or before the time (including extension) for filing an income tax return, the seller files with the IRS a written statement verified by the
Company, regarding the terms of the sale, and (v) the Plan complies with the allocation requirements set forth in Section 11(b)(5).
 

(2) If, during the three-year period after the Plan acquires Qualified Employer Securities in a transaction in which gain is not recognized, the Plan
disposes of part or all of such Qualified Employer Securities, the Company shall be liable for a tax equal to ten percent (10%) of the amount realized upon the
disposition, unless such disposition is necessary to meet the diversification requirements of Section 17(a) of the Plan, or unless such disposition is made to a
Participant (or the Participant’s Beneficiary) by reason of death, Disability, Retirement after age fifty-nine and one-half (59½), or a separation from service which
results in a one-year Break in Service.
 
Section 7. ALLOCATIONS TO ACCOUNTS.
 (a) Individual Accounts.
 The Committee shall establish and maintain individual Accounts for each Participant in the Plan. Individual Accounts shall also be maintained for all
former Participants who still have an interest in the Plan. Except as provided in Section 17(a), such individual Accounts shall not require a segregation of the
Trust assets and no Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary shall acquire any right to or interest in any specific asset of the Trust as a result of the allocation
provided for in the Plan.
 

(b) Company Stock Account.
 (1) The Company Stock Account of each Participant will be credited as of each Anniversary Date with the Participant’s allocated share of Company
Stock (including fractional shares) purchased and paid for by the Trust or contributed in kind by the Company, with Forfeitures of Company Stock and with stock
dividends on Company Stock held in the Participant’s Company Stock Account.
 

A Participant shall have one Company Stock Account for Employer Securities acquired by the Trust prior to January 1, 1987 and one
Company Stock Account for Employer Securities acquired by the Trust after December 31, 1986.
 

Employer Securities acquired by the Trust with the proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan shall be credited to a Suspense Account. For
each Plan Year during the duration of the loan, the number of shares of Employer Securities to be released from said Suspense Account and allocated to the
Company Stock Accounts of Participants shall be determined pursuant to either the “General Rule” or the “Special Rule” described below as selected by the
Committee for each Securities Acquisition Loan. Once the Committee has selected either the General Rule or the Special Rule, that Rule shall be used exclusively
for the allocation of shares of Employer Securities purchased with the proceeds of a particular Securities Acquisition Loan.
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(A) General Rule: For each Plan Year during the duration of the loan, the Committee shall withdraw from the Suspense Account a number of
shares of Employer Securities equal to the total number of such shares held in the Suspense Account immediately prior to the withdrawal multiplied by a fraction:
 (i) The numerator of which is the amount of principal and interest paid for the Plan Year; and
 

(ii) The denominator of which is the sum of the numerator plus the principal and interest to be paid for all future years.
 

(B) Special Rule:
 (i) For each Plan Year, the Committee shall withdraw from the Suspense Account a number of shares of Employer Securities equal to
the total number of such shares held in the Suspense Account immediately prior to the withdrawal multiplied by a fraction:
 (aa) The numerator of which is the amount of principal paid for the Plan Year; and
 

(bb) The denominator of which is the sum of the numerator plus the principal to be paid for all future Plan Years.
 

(ii) The Committee may select the Special Rule only if:
 (aa) The Securities Acquisition Loan provides for annual payments of principal and interest at a cumulative rate which is not
less rapid at any time than level annual payments of such amounts for ten (10) years;
 

(bb) The interest included in any payment is disregarded only to the extent that it would be determined to be interest under
standard loan amortization tables; and
 

(cc) By reason of a renewal, extension or refinancing, the sum of the expired duration of the original loan, any renewal period,
any extension period and the duration of any new loan does not exceed 10 years.
 

(C) In determining the number of shares to be released for any Plan Year under either the General Rule or the Special Rule:
 (i) The number of future years under the Loan must be definitely ascertainable and must be determined without taking into account
any possible extensions or renewal periods;
 

(ii) If the Loan provides for a variable interest rate, the interest to be paid for all future Plan Years must be computed by using the
interest rate applicable as of the end of the Plan Year for which the determination is being made; and
 

(iii) If the Employer Securities allocated to the Suspense Account includes more than one class of shares, the number of shares of each
class to be withdrawn for a Plan Year from the Suspense Account must be determined by applying the applicable fraction provided for above to each such class.
 

(2) Allocations of Company Stock shall be reflected separately for each class of such stock, and the Committee shall maintain adequate records of
the aggregate cost basis of Company Stock allocated to each Participant’s Company Stock Account.
 

(c) Other Investments Account.
 The Other Investments Account of each Participant will be credited (or debited) as of each Anniversary Date with the Participant’s share of the net
income (or loss) of the Trust, with cash dividends on Company Stock not distributed to Participants or used to pay a Securities Acquisition Loan and with
Employer Contributions and Forfeitures in other than Company Stock. The Other Investments Account of each Participant will be credited (or debited) as of each
Anniversary Date with the Participant’s share of the unrealized appreciation (or depreciation) in the value of Trust assets other than Company Stock. It will be
debited for any payments for purchases of Company Stock or for repayment of debt (including principal and interest) incurred for the purchase of Employer
Securities.
 
Section 8. EXPENSES OF THE PLAN AND TRUST.
 Normal brokerage charges which are included in the cost of securities purchased (or charged to proceeds in the case of sales) shall be paid by the Trust. The
Company shall pay all expenses in connection with the design, establishment, or termination of the Plan, as well as the Trustee’s fees. Subject to Section 2.06 of
the Trust Agreement, the Trust shall pay all costs of administering the Plan and Trust, unless such expenses are paid by the Company (within 60 days after receipt
of an invoice therefore).
 
Section 9. VOTING COMPANY STOCK.
 For so long as the Company has a “registration-type class of securities”, as such phrase is defined at Section 409(e)(4) of the Code, each Participant shall
be entitled to direct the Trustee as to the voting of any Company Stock credited to such Participant’s Company Stock Account with respect to any issue on which
the Company shareholders
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holding like securities are entitled to vote (as more fully set forth in the Trust Agreement). The Trustee shall vote in its sole discretion any unallocated Company
Stock held by the Trust and any shares of Company Stock which are credited to the Company Stock Account of a Participant with respect to which no voting
instructions are received, pursuant to Section 2.04(i) of the Trust Agreement.
 
Section 10. DISCLOSURE TO PARTICIPANTS.
 (a) Summary Plan Description.
 The Committee shall furnish each Participant (and each Beneficiary receiving benefits under the Plan) with a summary plan description in such form
and at such times as required by Sections 102(a)(1) and 104(b)(1) of ERISA and the Department of Labor Regulations thereunder. Such summary plan description
shall be updated from time to time as required under ERISA and the Department of Labor regulations thereunder.
 

(b) Summary Annual Report.
 The Committee shall furnish each Participant (and each Beneficiary receiving benefits under the Plan) with a summary annual report of the Plan in
such form and at such times as required by Section 104(b)(3) of ERISA and the Department of Labor Regulations thereunder.
 

(c) Annual Statement.
 As soon as possible after each Anniversary Date, Participants will receive a written statement of their Accounts showing as of that Anniversary Date:
 (1) The balance in each of their Accounts as of the preceding Anniversary Date.
 

(2) The amount of Employer Contributions and Forfeitures allocated to their Accounts for the year.
 

(3) The adjustments to their Accounts to reflect their share of dividends and the income and expenses of the Trust for the year.
 

(4) The new balances in each of their Accounts, including the number of shares of Company Stock.
 

(5) The vested percentage of their Plan Benefit.
 

Upon the discovery of any error or miscalculation in an Account, the Committee shall correct the same insofar as correction is feasible and preserves
all vested and accrued benefits as correctly determined in accordance with the Plan, all as determined by the Committee in its complete discretion. Statements to
Participants are for reporting purposes only, and no allocation, valuation or statement shall, by itself, vest any right or title in any part of the Trust fund.
 

(d) Notice of Rollover Treatment.
 The Committee shall, when making any distribution which qualifies as a qualifying rollover distribution under Section 402(c) or Section 401(a)(31)
of the Code, provide a written notice to the recipient which explains the provisions of Sections 402(c) and 401(a)(31) under which such distribution will not be
subject to current tax if transferred to an Eligible Retirement Plan. In the case of a distribution under Section 402(c), such notice shall be given not less than thirty
(30) days nor more than ninety (90) days before the distribution date. If the distribution is one to which Sections 401(a)(11) and 417 of the Internal Revenue Code
do not apply, such distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days after the notice required under Section 1.411(a)11(c) of the Income Tax Regulations is
given, provided that:
 (1) the Committee clearly informs the Participant that the Participant has a right to a period of at least thirty (30) days after receiving the notice to
consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option), and
 

(2) the Participant, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a distribution.
 

(e) Additional Disclosure.
 The Committee shall make available for examination by any Participant (or Beneficiary) copies of the summary plan description, the Plan, the Trust
Agreement and the latest annual report of the Plan filed with the Department of Labor. Upon written request of any Participant (or Beneficiary), the Committee
shall furnish copies of such documents and may make a reasonable charge to cover the cost of furnishing such copies, as provided in regulations of the
Department of Labor.
 
Section 11. ALLOCATION OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS AND FORFEITURES.
 (a) Allocation of Employer Contributions and Forfeitures.
 The allocation will be made as follows:
 (1) Employer Contributions.
 Employer Contributions will be allocated as of each Anniversary Date among the Accounts of Participants who meet the requirements of
Section 4 of the Plan, in the proportion that each such Participant’s Units bear to the total Units of all such Participants for that year. Shares of Employer
Securities released from the Suspense Account (as provided in Section 7(b)) by reason of the payment of interest and principal on a Securities Acquisition Loan
shall be allocated as of each Anniversary Date among the Accounts of Participants in the Plan who meet the requirements of Section 4 of the Plan, in the
proportion that each such Participant’s Units bear to the total Units of all such Participants for that year.
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(2) Forfeitures.
 Forfeitures shall be allocated in the same manner as Employer Contributions are allocated.
 

(3) Net Income (or Loss) of the Trust.
 The net income (or loss) of the Trust will be determined annually as of each Anniversary Date. Any stock dividends on shares of Company
Stock held by the Trust shall be allocated to each Participant’s Company Stock Account in the ratio in which the cumulative number of shares allocated to the
Participant’s Company Stock Account as of the preceding Anniversary Date bears to the total cumulative number of shares of Company Stock allocated to the
Company Stock Accounts of all Participants as of that date. Trust income attributable to any cash dividends paid on allocated shares of Company Stock and not
used to make payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan shall be allocated to each Participant’s Other Investments Account in the ratio in which the cumulative
number of shares allocated to the Participant’s Company Stock Account as of the preceding Anniversary Date bears to the total cumulative number of shares of
Company Stock allocated to the Company Stock Accounts of all Participants as of that date.
 

Trust income attributable to any cash dividends paid on unallocated shares of Company Stock and not used to make payments on a Securities
Acquisition Loan shall be allocated to each Participant’s Other Investments Account in accordance with Subsection 11(a)(1). Trust income attributable to any
cash dividends paid on unallocated shares of Company Stock and used to make payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan shall release shares of Employer
Securities from the Suspense Account (as provided in Section 7(b)), which shall be allocated in accordance with Subsection 11(a)(1). Trust income attributable to
any cash dividends paid on allocated shares of Company Stock and used to make payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan shall release shares of Employer
Securities from the Suspense Account (as provided in Section 7(b)), which shall be allocated to each Participant’s Company Stock Account in the ratio in which
the cumulative number of shares allocated to the Participant’s Company Stock Account as of the preceding Anniversary Date bears to the total cumulative
number of shares of Company Stock allocated to the Company Stock Accounts of all Participants as of that date.
 

Trust income attributable to any gain from the sale of unallocated shares of Employer Securities shall be allocated to each Participant’s Other
Investments Account in the proportion that each such Participant’s Units for the Plan Year bears to the total Units of all such Participants for that Plan Year. All
other net income (or loss) will be allocated to each Participant’s Other Investments Account in the ratio in which the balance of the Participant’s Other
Investments Account on the preceding Anniversary Date bears to the sum of the balances of the Other Investments Accounts of all Participants on that date. For
this purpose, Account balances shall be reduced by amounts distributed to Participants during the Plan Year.
 

The net income (or loss) includes the increases (or decreases) in the fair market value of assets of the Trust, interest, dividends, other income
and expenses attributable to assets in the Other Investments Accounts since the preceding Anniversary Date. Net income (or loss) does not include the interest
paid under any installment contract for the purchase of Company Stock by the Trust or on any loan obtained by the Trust to purchase Company Stock.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no income (or loss) shall be allocated to a terminated Participant’s Account for the Plan Year in which the Participant receives
final distribution of the Plan Benefit.
 

(b) Allocation Limitations.
 (1) For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 2001, except to the extent permitted under Section 414(v) of the Code, if applicable, the
Annual Addition that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant’s Account under the Plan for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of:
 (A) $40,000, as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living under Section 415(d) of the Code, or
 

(B) 100 percent of the Participant’s compensation, within the meaning of Section 415(c)(3) of the Code, for the Limitation Year.
 

The compensation limit referred to in (ii) shall not apply to any Contribution for medical benefits after separation from service (within the
meaning of Section 401(h) or Section 419(A)(f)(2) of the Code) which is otherwise treated as an Annual Addition.
 

A Participant’s allocable share of Employer Contributions applied to the payment of interest on a Securities Acquisition Loan and
Forfeitures of Employer Securities purchased with the proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan shall not be included as an Annual Addition, provided that no
more than one-third (a) of the Employer Contribution for that year is allocated to the Accounts of Highly Compensated Employees.
 

The Annual Additions under Section 11(b) with respect to Employer Securities released from the Suspense Account (by reason of Employer
Contributions used for payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan) and allocated to Participants’ Company Stock Accounts shall be based upon the lesser of (A)
the amount of such Employer Contributions, or (B) the fair market value of such Employer Securities (determined by an
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Independent Appraiser) as of the Allocation Date. Annual Additions shall not include any allocation attributable to proceeds from the sale of Employer Securities
by the Trust or to appreciation (realized or unrealized) in the fair market value of Company Stock.
 

(2) If an Employer is contributing to another defined contribution plan, as defined in Section 414(i) of the Code, for Employees of the Company or
any Affiliated Company, some or all of whom may be Participants in this Plan, then any such Participant’s Annual Additions in such other plan shall be
aggregated with the Participant’s Annual Additions derived from this Plan for purposes of the limitation in Paragraph (1) of this Subsection.
 

(3) RESERVED.
 

(4) If Company Stock is purchased from a shareholder of the Company and if such shareholder is also a Participant in this Plan, then notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Plan, the total Account balances of such Participant’s Accounts other than the Participant’s Segregated Investments
Account, combined with the total Account balances of the Accounts of such Participant’s spouse, parents, grandparents, children, and grandchildren under the
Plan, shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total of all Account balances under the Plan. However, if the total Account balances of such Participant’s
Accounts exceed twenty percent (20%) of the total of all Account balances, then the amounts in excess of said twenty percent (20%) shall be credited to that
Participant’s Segregated Investments Account and invested in investments other than Company Stock.
 

(5) In the case of a sale in which a seller elects nonrecognition of gain under Section 1042 of the Code, no portion of such Qualified Employer
Securities may be allocated to the Account of (i) the seller (or the seller’s family) during the nonallocation period or (ii) any other person who owns (after
application of the family attribution rules) more than twenty-five percent (25%) of any class of outstanding Company Stock, or more than twenty-five percent
(25%) of the total value of any class of outstanding Company Stock, at any time during the one-year period preceding the purchase of such Qualified Employer
Securities by the Plan, or on any subsequent date when such Qualified Employer Securities are allocated to Participants in the Plan. For purposes of this
Paragraph, the seller’s family shall include the seller’s spouse, ancestors, lineal descendants, and brothers and sisters. Notwithstanding the foregoing, lineal
descendants of a seller shall be permitted to share in the allocation of Qualified Employer Securities, provided that the aggregate amount of such stock allocated
for the benefit of all such lineal descendants does not exceed more than five percent (5%) of such stock purchased from the seller. For purposes of this Paragraph
(5), a person shall be considered to be a more than twenty-five percent (25%) shareholder if the amount of Company Stock which such person owns (whether
outright or as a Plan Participant), together with the amount of Company Stock owned by such person’s spouse, children, grandchildren and parents (whether
outright or as Plan Participants), exceeds twenty-five percent (25%) of any class of outstanding Company Stock or twenty-five percent (25%) of the total value of
any class of outstanding Company Stock. For purposes of this Paragraph (5), the “nonallocation period” means the period beginning on the date of the sale and
ending on the later of (i) the date which is ten (10) years after the date of sale, or (ii) the date of the Plan allocation attributable to the final payment of the
Securities Acquisition Loan.
 

(6) If, due to forfeitures, reasonable error in estimating compensation, or other limited facts and circumstances as determined by the Commissioner,
the Account balances or the Annual Additions to a Participant’s Accounts would exceed the limitation described in Paragraphs (1), (2) or (3) of this Subsection,
the aggregate of the Annual Additions to this Plan and the Annual Additions to any other plan described in Paragraphs (2) or (3) shall be reduced until the
applicable limitation is satisfied.
 

(7) The reduction shall be treated the same as Forfeitures and shall be allocated in accordance with Section 11(a)(2) of the Plan to the Accounts of
Participants who are not affected by this limitation.
 

(8) If any amount cannot be reallocated under the foregoing provision, such amount shall be deposited in a suspense account and allocated to the
maximum extent possible under Section 11(a)(2) of the Plan in succeeding years, provided that (i) no Employer Contributions are made until Section 415 of the
Code will permit their allocation, (ii) no investment gains or losses are allocated to such suspense account, and (iii) the amounts in such suspense account are
allocated at the earliest possible date.
 

(9) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Section 11, if the allocation provided above for a Plan Year would result in an allocation to
Highly Compensated Employees of more than one-third of the Contributions which are deductible under Code Section 404(a)(9) for the Plan Year, the allocation
of amounts to all Highly Compensated Employees shall be reduced in proportion to their respective Covered Compensation for the Plan Year, and the allocation
to Participants other than Highly Compensated Employees shall be increased in proportion to their respective Covered Compensation for the Plan Year, by such
amount that will result in the final allocation to the Highly Compensated Employees of Contributions which are deductible under Code Section 404(a)(9) being
equal to one-third of the total allocation of such Employer Contributions to all persons eligible to share in the allocations for said Plan Year.
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Section 12. DETERMINATION OF PLAN BENEFIT VESTING AT DEATH, DISABILITY OR RETIREMENT.
 A Participant who, while employed with the Company, dies or attains any of the following Retirement dates will be one hundred percent (100%) vested.
 

(a) Normal Retirement.
 A Participant’s Normal Retirement Date is the later of such Participant’s attainment of age sixty-five (65) or the fifth (5th) anniversary of the year in
which the Participant commenced participation in this Plan.
 

(b) Disability Retirement.
 If a Participant terminated employment because of a Disability, such Participant will be given a Disability Retirement without regard to age or length
of service, and the termination benefit shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the amounts in all of such Participant’s Accounts. Disability shall mean the
Participant’s entitlement to Social Security disability benefits.
 

(c) Deferred Retirement.
 If a Participant continues in the service of the Employer beyond the Normal Retirement Date, such Participant shall continue to participate in the
Plan during any period of employment following the Normal Retirement Date.
 

Any amount credited to a Participant’s Accounts with respect to the Employer’s Contribution for the Plan Year in which such Participant dies,
becomes Disabled or attains any of the above Retirement dates shall also be completely vested at the time of such contribution.
 
Section 13. OTHER TERMINATION OF SERVICE AND VESTING.
 (a) Vesting Schedule.
 The vesting of a Participant’s Plan Benefit will be based upon Years of Service, as defined in Section 2, in accordance with the following vesting
schedule:
 

Years of Service

 

Percentage of Accounts Vested

Less than Three Years      0
Three Years    20
Four Years    40
Five Years    60
Six Years    80
Seven or more Years  100

 
The computation of a Participant’s nonforfeitable percentage of the Participant’s interest in the Plan shall not be reduced as the result of any direct or

indirect amendment to this Plan. For this purpose, the Plan shall be treated as having been amended if the Plan provides for an automatic change in vesting due to
a change in top heavy status. In the event that the Plan is amended to change or modify any vesting schedule, a Participant with at least three (3) Years of Service
as of the expiration date of the election period may elect to have such Participant’s nonforfeitable percentage computed under the Plan without regard to such
amendment. If a Participant fails to make such election, then such Participant shall be subject to the new vesting schedule. The Participant’s election period shall
commence on the adoption date of the amendment and shall end sixty (60) days after the latest of:
 (1) the adoption date of the amendment,
 

(2) the effective date of the amendment, or
 

(3) the date the Participant receives written notice of the amendment from the Employer or Committee.
 

(b) Vesting Upon Reemployment.
 If a Participant is reemployed by the Company following a Break in Service, such Participant’s Accounts shall be vested as follows:
 (1) Vesting of Prior Account Balances.
 If a Participant has had five consecutive one-year Breaks in Service, Years of Service after such five-year period will not be taken into
account for purposes of determining a Participant’s vested interest in the Participant’s prebreak Account balances and new Accounts will be established to record
the Participant’s interest in the Plan for service after such five-year period.
 

(2) Vesting of Subsequent Account Balances.
 (A) In the case of a Participant who, at the time of a Break in Service, does not have any vested right under Paragraph (a) above, Years of
Service before such Break in Service shall not be taken into account unless such Participant returns to work for the Employer and completes one (1) Year of
Service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Years of Service before such Break in Service shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining a Participant’s
vested interest in the Participant’s postbreak Accounts if the number of consecutive one-year Breaks in Service equals or exceeds five (5) years or the aggregate
number of Years of Service before such Break in Service, whichever is greater.
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(B) If a Participant had any degree of vested interest at the time of the Participant’s Break in Service, such Participant shall participate
retroactively to the Participant’s reemployment date for purposes of determining a Participant’s vested interest in the Participant’s postbreak Account balances.
Upon resuming participation, such Participant’s Years of Service shall include all Years of Service prior to the Break in Service.
 

(c) Forfeitures.
 Forfeitures shall be charged first against a Participant’s Other Investments Account, second against Company Stock which was not acquired with the
proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan, and third against Company Stock acquired with a Securities Acquisition Loan. If a portion of a Participant’s Account is
to be forfeited and interests in more than one class of Employer Securities have been allocated to a Participant’s Account, the Participant shall forfeit the same
percentage of each such class. The disposition of such Forfeitures shall be as follows:
 (1) If a Participant has incurred five consecutive one-year Breaks in Service and has not received a “cash-out distribution” (as defined below), the
nonvested balance of the Participant’s Accounts shall be allocated as a Forfeiture as soon as possible after the close of the Plan Year in which the Participant
incurs a five-year Break in Service.
 

(2) If a Participant who is not one hundred percent (100%) vested receives a distribution of a Plan Benefit, which is not a “cash-out distribution” (as
defined below), prior to the occurrence of a five-year Break in Service, and such Participant returns to work for the Employer, the portion of the Participant’s
Accounts which was not vested shall be maintained separately (from any additional contributions to this Plan) until such Participant becomes one hundred percent
(100%) vested. Such Participant’s vested and nonforfeitable percentage in such separate Accounts upon any subsequent termination of service shall be equal to:
 

    X—Y  
100%—Y

 
For purposes of applying this formula, X is the vested percentage at the time of the subsequent termination, and Y is the vested percentage at

the time of the prior termination. Separate Accounts shall share in the allocation of Trust income or loss on every Anniversary Date prior to Forfeiture, but such
accounts shall not share in allocation of Trust income or loss on the Anniversary Date on which they are forfeited.
 

(3) If a Participant receives a “cash-out distribution” (as defined below), such Participant shall incur a Forfeiture immediately upon receipt of the
“cash-out distribution.” The nonvested balance of the Participant’s Accounts shall be allocated as a Forfeiture as of the Anniversary Date coinciding with or
following the date such Participant incurred a one-year Break in Service or received the cash-out distribution, whichever is later.
 

(d) Cash-Out Distribution.
 If a partially vested Participant receives a cash-out distribution, the cash-out distribution will result in a Forfeiture of the nonvested portion of the
Participant’s Accounts. A “cash-out distribution” is a distribution of the entire vested portion of a Participant’s Accounts that is made before the Participant incurs
five (5) consecutive one-year Breaks in Service.
 

If any former Participant shall be reemployed by the Employer before five (5) consecutive one-year Breaks in Service, and such former Participant
had received a cash-out distribution prior to reemployment, the forfeited portion of such Participant’s Accounts shall be reinstated only if the Participant repays
the full amount distributed to such Participant. Such repayment must be made by the former Participant before the Participant incurs five (5) consecutive one-year
Breaks in Service following the date of distribution and before the five-year anniversary of his reemployment date. In the event the former Participant does repay
the full amount distributed to such Participant, the undistributed portion of the Participant’s Accounts must be restored in full, unadjusted by any gains or losses
occurring subsequent to the Anniversary Date preceding the Participant’s termination. Restoration of a Participant’s Accounts shall include restoration of all Code
Section 411(d)(6) protected benefits with respect to such restored amounts.
 

If the Participant repays the amount distributed to such Participant within the required time period, the Committee shall restore the forfeited portion
of the Participant’s Accounts as of the Anniversary Date coinciding with or following the repayment. Such amount shall be restored, to the extent necessary, in
the following manner:
 (A) first from current-year Forfeitures;
 (B) second from current-year Trust earnings; and
 (C) third from current-year Contributions.
 

To the extent the amounts described in clauses (A), (B) and (C) are insufficient to enable the Committee to make the required
restoration, the Employer must contribute the additional amount necessary to enable the Committee to make the required restoration.
 

A terminated Participant who is zero percent (0%) vested shall be deemed to have received a cash-out distribution as of the day on
which the Participant separates from service with the Employer. For purposes of applying the restoration provisions of this Paragraph, the Committee will treat a
zero percent (0%) vested Participant as repaying the Participant’s cash-out distribution on the first day of reemployment with the Employer.
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Section 14. DISTRIBUTION OF PLAN BENEFIT.
 (a) Death, Disability or Retirement.
 In the event of death, Disability or Retirement, subject to Subsection 14(e), distribution of a Participant’s Plan Benefit shall be made in a lump sum,
as soon as administratively feasible, during the Plan Year which follows the close of the Plan Year in which such event occurs.
 

(b) Other Termination of Participation.
 In the event a Participant terminates employment for reasons other than death, Disability or Retirement, subject to Subsection 14(e), the Participant’s
vested Plan Benefit will be distributed in a lump sum, as soon as administratively feasible, during the Plan Year which follows the close of the Plan Year in which
the Participant separated from service.
 

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section 14(b), the Plan shall not be required to distribute any Employer Securities acquired with the
proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan until the close of the Plan Year in which such Securities Acquisition Loan has been repaid in full.
 

(c) Death Prior to Distribution.
 If a Participant dies before distribution of the Participant’s Plan Benefit has commenced, such Participant’s entire Plan Benefit shall be distributed in
accordance with Subsection 15(b) within five (5) years of the date of the Participant’s death.
 

If a Participant dies after the distribution of the Plan Benefit has commenced, the remaining portion of the Plan Benefit shall be distributed (in
accordance with Subsection 15(b)) at least as rapidly as under the method being used at the date of the Participant’s death.
 

(d) Valuation Date.
 All Accounts, other than the Company Stock Accounts, shall be valued as of the appropriate Valuation Date, as defined in Section 2 of the Plan. The
Trustee may carry out other valuations from time to time as necessary. The valuation of the Company Stock Accounts shall be valued as of a date coinciding with
or immediately preceding the date of actual distribution of such Company Stock Accounts. Valuation of Company Stock contributed to or purchased by the Plan
shall be determined the responsibility of the Trustee and shall be made pursuant to the terms of the Trust Agreement.
 

(e) Consent and Notice Requirements.
 If the value of the Plan Benefit exceeds five thousand dollars ($5,000) at the time of the distribution, any distribution prior to the later of age sixty-
two (62) or the Participant’s Normal Retirement Date may be made only with the written consent of the Participant. For all distributions made after December 31,
2001, with respect to all Participants, the value of a Participant’s nonforfeitable account balance shall be determined without regard to that portion of the Plan
Benefit, if any, attributable to any rollover contributions (and earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of Sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)
(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16) of the Code. The Committee shall provide the Participant with a written notice which explains the provision of Section 411(a)(11), not less
than thirty (30) days nor more than ninety (90) days before the distribution date. If the distribution is one to which Sections 401(a)(11) and 417 of the Internal
Revenue Code do not apply, such distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days after the notice required under Section 1.411(a)-11(c) of the Income Tax
Regulations is given, provided that:
 (1) the Committee clearly informs the Participant that the Participant has a right to a period of at least thirty (30) days after receiving the notice to
consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option), and
 

(2) the Participant, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a distribution.
 

Failure of a Participant to consent to an immediate distribution within the applicable time limit may be treated by the Employer as an
election by the Participant to defer benefits to the later of age sixty-two (62) or the Normal Retirement Date of the Participant.
 

(f) Required Commencement of Benefit Distribution.
 (1) Distribution of a Participant’s Plan Benefit shall commence not later than sixty (60) days after the Anniversary Date coinciding with or next
following the latest of (1) the Participant’s Retirement, (2) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date the Participant became a Participant, or (3) the Participant’s
separation from service.
 

If the amount of a Participant’s Plan Benefit cannot be determined by the Committee by the date on which a distribution is to commence, or
the Participant cannot be located, distribution of the Participant’s Plan Benefit shall commence within sixty (60) days after the date on which the Participant’s
Plan Benefit can be determined or after the date on which the Committee locates the Participant.
 

(2) The distribution of the Plan Benefit of any Participant who attains age seventy and one-half (70 1/2) in a calendar year shall commence not later
than April 1 of the next calendar year (even if the Participant
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has not terminated). Effective for all Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1998, except in the case of a five percent (5%) owner (as defined in Section
416(i)(1)(B)(i) of the Code), distributions shall commence in accordance with Subsection 14(f)(2) unless the Participant elects otherwise. In the event a
Participant elects not to receive the distributions, or in the case of a Participant (other than a five percent (5%) owner) who has begun receiving distributions in
accordance with this Subsection who elects to cease receiving such distributions, the distributions shall commence (or recommence) no later than April 1 of the
calendar year following the calendar year in which the Participant separates from service with the Employer. All distributions made under this Subsection 14(f)(2)
shall be determined and made in accordance with the Proposed Regulations under Section 401(a)(9), including the minimum distribution incidental benefit
requirement of Section 1.401(a)(9)-2 of the Proposed Regulations.
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for purposes of determining required minimum distributions for calendar years beginning with the
2003 calendar year, all distributions made under this Subsection 14(f) shall be determined and made in accordance with the final and temporary regulations under
401(a)(9), pursuant to Rev. Proc. 2002-29.
 

(g) Undistributed Accounts.
 Any part of a Participant’s Company Stock Account and Other Investments Account which is retained in the Trust after the Anniversary Date
coinciding with or immediately following the date on which the Participant terminates employment shall, as soon as possible after such Anniversary Date, be
segregated and invested, pursuant to Section 7 of the Plan, in assets of the Trust other than Company Stock. However, except in the case of reemployment (as
provided for in Section 4), none of the Participant’s Accounts will be credited with any further Employer Contributions, Forfeitures, dividends on Company Stock
or gain on the sale of unallocated shares of Company Stock. The undistributed Account under this Subsection is for reporting purposes only. The Participant’s
undistributed Account will be treated as an Other Investments Account, except that such Account will not invest in the Plan’s Company Stock fund. For purposes
of Sections 6, 7, 11, 14 and 15 of the Plan, the undistributed Account shall be treated as if it were an Other Investments Account.
 

(h) Optional Direct Transfer of Eligible Rollover Distributions.
 A Distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to have any portion of an Eligible Rollover Distribution paid
directly to an Eligible Retirement Plan specified by the Distributee in a Direct Rollover.
 

(i) Lien on Distribution.
 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if, at the time of distribution, a Participant is indebted to the Trust, or has retained in his or her
possession money or property which properly belongs to the Trust, the Trust shall have a lien on such distribution pending the resolution of such ownership
rights. The Trustee may exercise such lien either by directing the Company secretary to withhold any stock transfer of title, or by withholding distribution of any
stock or the value of any stock or other assets, pending resolution of such ownership rights. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Plan Benefits under this Plan may not
be assigned or alienated except to the extent allowable under Code Sections 401(a)(13) and 414(p).
 

(j) Automatic Rollovers.
 Any distribution in excess of $1,000 may be made by transferring the amount to be distributed to an individual retirement plan designated by the
Committee, unless the Participant or Beneficiary entitled to receive the distribution elects (1) to receive the distribution directly, or (2) to have the distribution
paid directly to another Eligible Retirement Plan as described in Section 10 of the Plan. The requirement of this paragraph shall not be effective until the effective
date of regulations issued by the Department of Labor with respect to the requirements of the Committee’s selection of individual retirement plans.
 
Section 15. HOW PLAN BENEFIT WILL BE DISTRIBUTED.
 (a) Form of Distribution.
 Subject to a Participant’s right to demand distribution of such Participant’s Company Stock Account and Other Investments Account entirely in the
form of Employer Securities, the Trustee may, after consultation with the Company, distribute such Participant’s Plan Benefit entirely in cash or entirely in the
form of Employer Securities, or a combination of cash and Employer Securities. Distributions made in the form of Employer Securities shall be made in the form
of whole shares of Employer Securities with the value of any fractional shares paid in cash. For shares of Employer Securities acquired after December 31, 1986,
the Plan shall not be required to distribute any Employer Securities to the extent that the Participants or Beneficiaries have elected to have their Company Stock
Account diversified under the provisions of Section 17(a) hereof.
 

(b) Beneficiaries.
 (1) Designation.
 Distribution will be made to the Participant if living, and if not, to the Participant’s Beneficiary. A Participant may designate a Beneficiary
upon becoming a Participant and may change such designation at any time by filing a written designation with the Committee. Notwithstanding anything in this
Section 15 to the contrary, if a Participant is married, a Participant shall not designate anyone other than the Participant’s
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spouse as primary Beneficiary of the Participant’s Plan Benefit unless such spouse consents in writing to such designation, such spouse acknowledges the effect
of such election, and such writing is witnessed by a Plan representative or notary public and filed with the Committee.
 

(2) Absence of Valid Designation.
 If, upon the death of a Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary, there is no valid designation of a Beneficiary on file with the
Committee or the benefit is not claimed by any Beneficiary within a reasonable period of time after the death of the Participant, the benefit shall be paid to the
Participant’s surviving spouse. If the Participant is not married or if the Participant’s spouse does not survive the Participant, the benefit shall be paid to the
Participant’s estate.
 

(c) Location of Participant or Beneficiary Unknown .
 If a Participant who is entitled to a distribution cannot be located and the Committee has made reasonable efforts to locate the Participant, the
Participant’s interest shall be forfeited and treated as a Forfeiture in accordance with Section 13 at the time specified below. The Committee will be deemed to
have made reasonable efforts to locate the Participant if the Committee is unable to locate the Participant (or, in the case of a deceased Participant, his or her
Beneficiary) after having made two successive certified or similar mailings to the last address on file with the Committee and after the Committee has used the
IRS Letter Forwarding Program. The Participant’s Account(s) shall be forfeited as of the last day of the Plan Year in which occurs the close of the 12 calendar
month period following the later of the two successive mailings. If the Participant or Beneficiary makes a written claim for the Account(s) subsequent to the
forfeiture, the Employer shall cause the Account(s) to be reinstated, first from current year Forfeitures, if any, and then from an additional Employer Contribution.
 
Section 16. RIGHTS AND OPTIONS ON DISTRIBUTED SHARES OF COMPANY STOCK.
 (a) “Put” Option.
 For so long as the Company’s shares are readily tradable on an established market, the Company shall not be required to provide the Participant or
Beneficiary with an option to put the shares to the Company, in accordance with Section 409(h) of the Code.
 

(b) Right of First Refusal.
 For so long as the Company’s shares are readily tradable on an established market, shares of Company Stock distributed by the Trustee shall not be
subject to a right of first refusal, until such time as such shares are no longer readily tradable on an established market.
 

(c) Other Options.
 No Employer Securities acquired by this Plan with the proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan may be subject to a put, call, buy-sell or similar
arrangement while held by or when distributed from the Plan.
 
Section 17. SPECIAL PROVISIONS.
 (a) Diversification of Investments.
 Within ninety (90) days after the close of each Plan Year in the Qualified Election Period, each Qualified Participant shall be permitted to direct the
Plan as to the investment of not more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of Employer Securities allocated to the Participant’s Company Stock Account
attributable to Employer Securities which were acquired by the Plan after December 31, 1986, (including shares that the Qualified Participant previously elected
to diversify pursuant to this Subsection), less the number of shares previously diversified pursuant to such Participant’s election under this Subsection. In the case
of the sixth (6th) year of the Qualified Election Period, the preceding sentence shall be applied by substituting “fifty percent (50%)” for “twenty—five percent
(25%).” The Participant’s direction shall be completed no later than ninety (90) days after the close of the ninety (90) day election period.
 

The Committee shall offer at least three investment options (not inconsistent with regulations prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service) to each
Participant who makes an election under this Subsection.
 

In lieu of offering such investment options, the Committee may direct that all amounts subject to Participant elections under this Subsection be
distributed to Qualified Participants. All such distributions shall be distributed within ninety (90) days after the close of the ninety (90) day election period and
shall be made in cash.
 

In lieu of receiving a distribution under this Subsection, a Qualified Participant may direct the Plan to transfer the distribution to another qualified
plan of the Company which accepts such transfers, provided that such plan permits employee-directed investments and does not invest in Employer Securities to a
substantial degree. Such transfer shall be made within ninety (90) days after the close of the ninety (90) day election period.
 

(b) Cash Dividends.
 Cash dividends, if any, on shares of Company Stock allocated to Participants’ Accounts may be accumulated in the Trust or may be paid to
Participants currently as determined in the sole discretion of the Company, exercised in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner. Provided that the Plan is
primarily invested in Employer Securities, it is intended that the Company shall be allowed a deduction with respect to any dividends paid on allocated shares of
Company Stock of any class held by the Plan on the record date to the extent such dividends
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are paid in cash directly to the Participants, or their Beneficiaries, or are paid to the Plan and are distributed from the Plan to the Participants or their Beneficiaries
not later than ninety (90) days after the close of the Plan Year in which paid; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to pay or distribute any
dividends with respect to the nonvested portion of the Company Stock Account of a Participant who has terminated employment prior to the date such dividends
are paid directly to Participants, or are distributed from the Plan to the Participants. Provided that the Plan is primarily invested in Employer Securities, it is also
intended that the Company shall be allowed a deduction for any dividends used to make payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan the proceeds of which were
used to acquire the Employer Securities (whether or not allocated) with respect to which the dividend is paid, provided that in the case of dividends paid on
allocated shares, Employer Securities in an amount equal to such dividends are allocated to such Participants for the year in which such dividends would
otherwise have been allocated to such Participants. The Company shall be allowed a deduction for dividends paid only in the taxable year of the Company in
which the dividend is either paid to a Participant or Beneficiary or held to make payments on a Securities Acquisition Loan.
 

Shares of Employer Securities released from the Suspense Account (as provided in Section 7(b) of the Plan) by reason of the payment of principal
and interest on a Securities Acquisition Loan with cash dividends paid to the Trust, shall be allocated in accordance with Subsection 11(a)(3) of the Plan.
 

(c) In-Service Distributions.
 At the request of a Participant who is then one hundred percent (100%) vested in his or her Plan Benefit, the Committee shall direct the Trustee to
distribute to the Participant an in-service distribution not to exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the Participant’s accumulated Plan Benefit as then estimated
by the Committee, for reason of hardship constituting immediate and heavy financial need, as provided herein.
 

The Committee, in its sole discretion, exercised in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, shall determine whether the Participant’s hardship
constitutes immediate and heavy financial need, based on all relevant facts and circumstances. The following are financial needs considered immediate and
heavy: medical expenses (within the meaning of section 213(d) of the Code) incurred by the Participant, the Participant’s spouse, or dependents; the purchase
(excluding mortgage payments) of a principal residence for the Participant; payment of tuition and related educational fees for the next twelve (12) months of
postsecondary education for the Participant, the Participant’s spouse, children, or dependents; or the need to prevent eviction of the Participant from, or a
foreclosure on the mortgage of, the Participant’s principal residence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a distribution will not be considered as necessary to satisfy
an immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant unless (i) the Participant has obtained all distributions, other than hardship distributions, and all
nontaxable loans under all plans maintained by the Employer, and (ii) the distribution is not in excess of the amount of an immediate and heavy financial need.
 

If any in-service distribution is made, the Participant’s Plan Benefit when computed will be reduced by the amount of such advance.
 
Section 18. ADMINISTRATION.
 (a) Named Fiduciaries for Administration of Plan and for Investment and Control of Plan Assets.
 (1) Board of Directors.
 In addition to its powers as settler to amend or terminate the Plan, as set forth in Section 19, the Board of Directors shall have the following
duties and responsibilities in connection with the administration of the Plan:
 (A) Making decisions with respect to the selection, retention or removal of the Trustee and the Committee.
 

(B) Periodically reviewing the performance of the Trustee, the members of the Committee, persons to whom duties have been allocated or
delegated and any advisers appointed pursuant to paragraph (f)(1) below.
 

(C) Determining the form and amount of Employer Contributions.
 The Board of Directors may by written resolution allocate its duties and responsibilities to one or more of its members or delegate such
duties and responsibilities to any other persons; provided, however, that any such allocation or delegation shall be terminable upon such notice as the Board of
Directors deems reasonable and prudent under the circumstances.
 

(2) Plan Committee.
 (A) General.
 The Company is designated as the “Plan Administrator” within the meaning of Section 3(16) of ERISA and Section 414(g) of the
Code. The Company delegates to the Committee the Company’s administrative duties associated with the Company’s role as Plan Administrator and authorizes
the Committee to designate other persons, including Employees of the Company, to carry out its duties hereunder. Any such person shall become a fiduciary
under the Plan to the extent that such delegated responsibilities are fiduciary in nature. The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board of
Directors and shall serve, without compensation,
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until such time as they resign, die or become incapable of exercising their duties or are removed by the Board of Directors. All members of the Committee are
designated as agents of the Plan for purposes of service of legal process. The Company shall certify to the Trustee the names and specimen signatures of the
members of the Committee. Any member may resign at any time by submitting an appropriate written instrument to the Company, and while any vacancy exists,
the remaining members of the Committee may perform any act which the Committee is authorized to perform. Any vacancy on the Committee shall be filled by
appointment by the Board of Directors. All decisions required to be made by the Committee involving the interpretation, application and administration of the
Plan shall be resolved by action of the Committee either at a meeting or in a unanimous writing without a meeting.
 

(B) Duties and Responsibilities.
 The Committee shall have the following duties and responsibilities in connection with the administration of the Plan:
 (i) Establishing and implementing a funding policy as described in Paragraph (c) below.
 

(ii) Determining the eligibility of Employees for participation in the Plan.
 

(iii) Determining the eligibility of Employees for benefits provided by the Plan including such duties and responsibilities as are
necessary and appropriate under the Plan’s claims procedures.
 

(iv) Communicating with Participants and other persons.
 

(v) Interpreting and construing the terms of the Plan and Trust Agreement.
 

(vi) Instructing the Trustee as to the allocation of Trust assets (including Contributions and Forfeitures) and the distribution of Plan
Benefits.
 

The Committee may establish rules and regulations and may take any other necessary or proper action to carry out its duties and
responsibilities. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, the Trustee shall have the primary responsibility for the withholding of income taxes from Plan
distributions, for the payment of withheld income taxes on Plan distributions to the Internal Revenue Service. Compliance with record keeping and reporting
requirements of ERISA shall be the primary responsibility of the Company.
 

The Committee shall have full discretion to construe and interpret the terms and provisions of this Plan, which interpretation or
construction shall be final and binding on all parties including, but not limited to, the Company and any Participant or Beneficiary, except as otherwise provided
by law. The Committee shall administer such terms and provisions in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner and in full accordance with any and all laws
applicable to the Plan. When making a determination or calculation, the Committee shall be entitled to rely upon information furnished by the Employer or
anyone acting on behalf of the Employer.
 

(C) Allocation and Delegation of Responsibilities.
 The Committee may, by written resolution, allocate its administrative duties and responsibilities to one or more of its members or it
may delegate such duties and responsibilities to any other persons; provided, however, that any such allocation or delegation shall be terminable upon such notice
as the Committee deems reasonable and prudent under the circumstances.
 

(b) Investment of Plan Assets.
 The Plan assets shall be invested and controlled pursuant to the provisions of Section 6 of the Plan and the provisions of the Trust.
 

(c) Funding Policy.
 The funding policy of the Plan is to invest trust assets primarily in Company Stock over the life of the Plan. The Trustee shall, from time to time,
establish such investment methods as may be necessary to accomplish this funding policy.
 

(d) Claims Procedures.
 (1) Procedure. Claims for benefits under the Plan shall be made in writing to the Committee. The Committee shall have full discretion to render a
decision with respect to any claim. If a claim for benefits is wholly or partially denied by the Committee, then the Committee must provide notice of its denial to
the claimant (a “Notice of Denial”), which shall be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the claimant and which shall set forth: (i) the specific
reason or reasons for denial of the claim; (ii) a specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the denial is based; (iii) a description of any
additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim, together with an explanation of why the material or information is necessary;
and (iv) appropriate information regarding the steps to be taken if the claimant wishes to submit his or her claim for review.
 

(i) Disability Claims. If a claim is related to any distribution or rights to which a Participant or other claimant may be entitled in connection
with the Participant’s termination of employment by reason of becoming disabled (“Disability Plan Benefits”) and the claim is wholly or partially denied by the
Committee, then the Committee shall provide the Notice of Denial within a reasonable period of time, not to exceed 45 days after receipt of the claim. This period
within which the Committee must provide a Notice of Denial may be extended twice, for up to 30 days per extension, provided that the Committee (i) determines
that an extension is
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needed and beyond the control of the Plan, and (ii) notifies the claimant prior to the expiration of the initial 45-day period or of the first 30-day extension period.
If the Committee shall fail to notify the claimant either that his or her claim for benefits has been granted or that it has been denied within the initial 45-day period
or prior to the expiration of an extension, if applicable, then the claim shall be deemed to have been denied as of the last day of the applicable period, and the
claimant then may request a review of his or her claim.
 

(ii) Other Claims. The Committee shall notify a claimant in writing of the denial of any claim not related to Disability Plan Benefits within a
reasonable period of time, not to exceed 90 days after receipt of the claim. If the Committee shall fail to notify the claimant either that his or her claim has been
granted or that it has been denied within 90 days after the claim is received by the Committee, then the claim shall be deemed to have been denied.
 

(2) Procedure for Review of a Denied Claim.
 (i) Disability Claims. If a claim is denied, a claimant may file a written request with the Committee that it conduct a full and fair review of
his or her claim, and the Committee then must make a determination with respect to its review of the denied claim. A claimant must file a written request for a
review of a claim for Disability Plan Benefits with the Committee within 180 days after the receipt by the claimant of a Notice of Denial of his or her claim or
within 180 days after the claim is deemed to have been denied. The Committee’s decision with respect to its review of the denied claim shall be rendered not later
than 45 days after the receipt of the claimant’s request for a review, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, in which case the 45-
day period may be extended to 90 days if the Committee shall notify the claimant in writing within the initial 45-day period and shall state the reason for the
extension.
 

(ii) Other Claims. A claimant must file a written request for a review of any claim not related to Disability Plan Benefits with the Committee
within 60 days after the receipt by the claimant of a Notice of Denial of his or her claim or within 60 days after the claim is deemed to have been denied. The
Committee’s decision with respect to its review of the denied claim shall be rendered not later than 60 days after the receipt of the claimant’s request for a review,
unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, in which case the 60-day period may be extended to 120 days if the Committee shall
notify the claimant in writing within the initial 60-day period and shall state the reason for the extension.
 

(3) Review of Documents. In connection with a claimant’s appeal of a denial of his or her benefits (including Disability Plan Benefits), the claimant
may review pertinent documents and may submit issues and comments in writing. The Committee shall have full discretion to fully and fairly review the claim,
and the Committee’s decision upon review shall (i) include specific reasons for the decision, (ii) be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the
claimant, and (iii) contain specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the decision is based.
 

(e) Qualified Domestic Relations Orders.
 (1) In the case of any Domestic Relations Order received by the Plan, the Committee shall promptly notify the Participant and any other Alternate
Payee of the receipt of such order and of the Plan’s procedures for determining the qualified status of Domestic Relations Orders. Any Alternate Payee shall be
permitted to designate a representative for receipt of copies of notices that are sent to the Alternate Payee with respect to such order. The amount that would be
payable to the Alternate Payee shall be segregated in a segregated account as of the first day of the Plan Year during which the Domestic Relations Order is
received by the Committee. Such segregated account shall continue to be treated in the same manner as the affected Accounts of the Participant, but will not be
credited with any further Contributions or Forfeitures. If the order is determined to be a qualified order within the eighteen (18) month period described below, the
segregated amount (including any interest or earnings thereon) shall continue to be treated as a segregated account in the name of the Alternate Payee. If the
Committee determines that the order is not qualified, or if the Committee (or the appropriate court) is not able to resolve the issue within the eighteen (18) month
period, the segregated amount (including any interest or earnings thereon) shall be restored to the Participant. For purposes of this Paragraph, the “eighteen (18)
month period” shall mean the eighteen (18) month period beginning with the date on which the first payment would be required to be made under the Domestic
Relations Order.
 

(2) In determining whether a Domestic Relations Order is qualified, the Committee shall follow the procedures set forth in Section 18(d) with respect
to claims for Plan Benefits.
 

(3) A Domestic Relations Order will constitute a qualified Domestic Relations Order only if such order (i) does not require the Plan to provide any
type or form of benefit (or any option) not otherwise provided under the Plan, (ii) does not require the Plan to provide increased benefits, and (iii) does not require
the payment of benefits to an Alternate Payee which are required to be paid to another Alternate Payee under another order previously determined to be a
qualified order. In addition, a Domestic Relations Order will constitute a qualified order only if such order clearly specifies (i) the name and last known mailing
address of the Participant and of each Alternate Payee covered by the order, (ii) the amount or the percentage of a Participant’s Plan Benefit that is to be paid to
each Alternate Payee, or the manner in which such amount or percentage is to be determined, (iii) the number of payments or the period to which such order
applies, and (iv) each plan to which such order applies.
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(4) In the case of any payment to an Alternate Payee before a Participant has separated from service, the Plan shall not be required to make any
payment to an Alternate Payee prior to the date the Participant attains (or would have attained) the Earliest Retirement Age. For purposes of this Paragraph, the
term “Earliest Retirement Age” means the earliest of (i) the date on which the Participant is entitled to a distribution under the Plan, or (ii) the later of the date the
Participant attains age fifty (50) or the earliest date on which the Participant could begin receiving benefit if the Participant separated from service.
 

(f) General.
 (1) The Board of Directors, the Committee or any person to whom duties and responsibilities have been allocated or delegated, may employ other
persons for advice in connection with their respective responsibilities, including actuaries, plan consultants, investment advisers, attorneys and accountants.
 

(2) Any person may serve in more than one capacity with respect to the Plan.
 

(3) The Board of Directors, the Committee or any person to whom duties and responsibilities have been allocated or delegated shall be indemnified
and held harmless by the Company from any expense or liability when and as incurred hereunder, unless determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to have
been due to or arising from fraud, dishonesty, gross negligence, or misconduct of the Board of Directors, the Committee, or such person, as the case may be.
 

(4) The Board of Directors and the Committee shall have complete discretion in the interpretation of the Plan document with respect to the duties
and responsibilities allocated to them under the terms of the Plan, with all power and discretion necessary to carry out any of their duties described herein.
 

The decisions of the Board of Directors and the Committee in matters within their jurisdiction shall be final, binding and conclusive upon
each Employer, each Employee, Beneficiary and every other interested or concerned person or party.
 
Section 19. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.
 (a) Amendment.
 To provide for contingencies which may require or make advisable the clarification, modification or amendment of this Agreement, the Company
reserves the right to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, including without limitation, retroactive amendments necessary or
advisable to qualify the Plan and Trust under the provisions of Sections 401(a) and 4975(e)(7) of the Code or any successor or similar statute hereafter enacted.
Any such amendment to the Plan or Trust must be adopted by resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors. However, no such amendment shall (1) cause any
part of the assets of the Plan and Trust to revert to or be recoverable by the Company or be used for or diverted to purposes other than the exclusive benefit of
Participants, former Participants and Beneficiaries, (2) deprive any Participant, former Participant or Beneficiary of any Plan Benefit already vested, except to the
extent that such amendment may be necessary to permit the Plan or the Trust to qualify or continue to qualify as tax-exempt, (3) terminate the protections and
rights described in Section 16, (4) alter, change or modify the duties, powers or liabilities of the Trustee hereunder without its written consent, or (5) with respect
to any benefit previously accrued, eliminate or reduce any early retirement benefit or retirement type subsidy, or eliminate any optional form of benefit, except to
the extent permitted by Section 411(d)(6) of the Code.
 

(b) Changes in the Code.
 Any other provision of this Plan to the contrary notwithstanding, if any amendment to the Code requires that a conforming Plan amendment must be
adopted effective as of a stated effective date in order for this Plan to continue to be a qualified plan, this Plan shall be operated in accordance with the
requirement of such amendment to that law until the date when a conforming Plan amendment is adopted, or the date when a clear and unambiguous
nonconforming Plan amendment is adopted, whichever occurs first.
 

(c) Termination, Partial Termination or Complete Discontinuance of Contributions.
 Although the Company has established the Plan with the bona fide intention and expectation that it will be able to make contributions indefinitely,
nevertheless, the Company shall not be under any obligation or liability to continue its contributions or to maintain the Plan for any given length of time. The
Company may in its sole discretion discontinue such contributions or terminate the Plan in whole or in part in accordance with its provisions at any time without
any liability for such discontinuance or termination. In the event of a termination (as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.401-6(b)(1)) or complete
discontinuance of contribution, then the Accounts of all Participants affected by the termination or discontinuance of contributions will become nonforfeitable. In
the event of a partial termination, the Accounts of all Participants affected by the partial termination will become nonforfeitable. After termination of the Plan, the
Trust will be maintained until the Plan Benefits of all Participants have been distributed. Plan Benefits may be distributed following termination of the Plan or
distributions may be deferred and distributed as provided in Section 14, as the Company shall determine. If Plan Benefits will be distributed after the Plan is
terminated, the distribution may be delayed until IRS approval is received. In the event that Company Stock is sold in connection with the termination of the Plan
or the amendment of the Plan to become a qualified employee plan that is not a stock bonus plan, all Plan Benefits will be distributed in cash.
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(d) Determination by Internal Revenue Service.
 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if the Internal Revenue Service shall fail or refuse to issue a favorable written determination or
ruling with respect to the continued qualification of the Plan and exemption of the Trust from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code, all Employer Contributions
under Section 401(a), together with any income received or accrued thereon less any benefits or expenses paid shall, upon the written direction of the Company,
be deemed held by the Trustee under the Employee Stock Ownership Plan as it existed prior to the adoption of this Plan and this Plan and the Trust shall
terminate.
 

(e) Return of Employer’s Contribution.
 Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if a Contribution is conditioned on its deductibility and the deduction is disallowed or if a
Contribution is made due to a mistake of fact, such Employer Contribution may be returned to the Employer if such Contribution is returned within one (1) year
thereafter and if the amount returned does not exceed the excess of the actual Contribution over the amount which would have been contributed had there been no
error in determining the deduction or mistake of fact. Earnings of the Plan attributable to the excess Contribution may not be returned to the Employer, but any
losses attributable thereto must reduce the amount so returned.
 
Section 20. MISCELLANEOUS.
 (a) Participation by Affiliated Company.
 (1) Any Affiliated Company presently existing or hereafter acquired may, with the consent of the Company, adopt the Plan and Trust and thereby
enable its employees to participate herein.
 

(2) In the event any Participant is transferred to an Affiliated Company which is a participating Employer, such Participant shall continue to
participate hereunder in the allocation of Employer Contributions and the Participant’s Accounts shall continue to vest in accordance with Section 13. Any
Participant who is transferred to an Affiliated Company which is not a participating Employer shall be treated as a suspended Participant in accordance with
Section 4(e).
 

(b) Limitation of Rights; Employment Relationship.
 All Plan Benefits will be paid only from the Trust assets and neither the Company nor any Employer nor the Committee nor the Trustee shall have
any duty or liability to furnish the Trust with any funds, securities or other assets except as expressly provided in the Plan. Nothing herein shall be construed to
obligate any Employer to continue to employ any Employee.
 

(c) Merger; Transfer of Assets.
 In no event shall this Plan be merged or consolidated with any other employee benefit plan, nor shall there be any transfer of assets or liabilities from
this Plan to any other such plan, unless immediately after such merger, consolidation or transfer, each Participant’s benefits, determined as if the plan had
terminated, are at least equal to or greater than the benefits which the Participant would have been entitled to had this Plan been terminated immediately before
such merger, consolidation or transfer.
 

(d) Prohibition Against Assignment.
 The Plan Benefits may not be assigned or alienated; provided, however, that a qualified Domestic Relations Order shall not be construed as an
assignment or alienation. Except for indebtedness to the Trust and orders to make payments or assign benefits to a spouse, former spouse, child or other
dependent under a qualified Domestic Relations Order, neither the Company nor the Trustee shall recognize any transfer, mortgage, pledge, hypothecation, order
or assignment by any Participants or Beneficiaries of all or part of their interest hereunder, and such interest shall not be subject in any manner to transfer by
operation of law, and shall be exempt from the claims of creditors or other claimants from all orders, decrees, levies, garnishment and/or executions and other
legal or equitable process or proceedings against such Participants or Beneficiaries to the fullest extent which may be permitted by law. Notwithstanding anything
in Subsection 20(d) to the contrary, in accordance with the provisions of Code Section 401(a)(13) as amended by the Taxpayer Relief Act of 1997, Plan Benefits
may be reduced to satisfy a Participant’s liability to the Plan due to the Participant’s conviction of a crime involving the Plan, a judgement, consent order, or
decree in an action for violation of fiduciary standards; or a settlement involving the Department of Labor or the Pension Benefits Guarantee Corporation.
 

(e) Applicable Law; Severability.
 The Plan hereby created shall be construed, administered and governed in all respects in accordance with ERISA and to the extent not superseded by
federal law, in accordance with the laws of the State of California; provided, however, that if any provision is susceptible of more than one interpretation, such
interpretation shall be given thereto as is consistent with the Plan being a qualified employee stock ownership plan within the meaning of the Code. If any
provision of this instrument shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be
fully effective.
 
Section 21. TOP-HEAVY RULES.
 (a) Purpose and Effect.
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The purpose of this Section 21 is to comply with the requirements of Section 416 of the Code. The provisions of this Section 21 are effective for
each Plan Year beginning on or after the Effective Date in which the Plan is a “Top-Heavy Plan” within the meaning of Section 416(g) of the Code.
 

(b) Top-Heavy Plan.
 In general, the Plan will be a Top-Heavy Plan for any Plan Year if, as of the “Determination Date” (that is, the last day of the preceding Plan Year),
the sum of the amounts in paragraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) below for Key Employees exceeds sixty percent of the sum of such amounts for all Employees who are
covered by this Plan or by a defined contribution plan or defined benefit plan that is aggregated with this Plan in accordance with Section 21(d):
 
 (i) The aggregate Account balances of Participants under this Plan.
 
 (ii) The aggregate Account balances of Participants under any other defined contribution plan included under Section 21(d).
 
 (iii) The present value of the cumulative accrued benefits of Participants calculated under any defined benefit plan included in Section 21(d).
 

In making the foregoing determination: (i) a Participant’s Account balances or cumulative accrued benefits shall be increased by the aggregate
distributions, if any, made with respect to the Participant during the 5-year period (or, for Plan Years commencing after 2001, the 1-year period, except with
respect to in-service distributions, for which the 5-year period shall continue to apply) ending on the Determination Date, including distributions under a
terminated plan that, if it had not been terminated, would have been required to be included in the aggregation group, (ii) the Account balances or cumulative
accrued benefits of a Participant who was previously a Key Employee, but who is no longer a Key Employee, shall be disregarded, (iii) the Account balances or
cumulative accrued benefits of a Beneficiary of a Participant shall be considered Accounts or accrued benefits of the Participant, (iv) the Account balances or
cumulative accrued benefits of a Participant who has not performed services for an Employer or an Affiliated Company at any time during the 5-year period (or,
for Plan Years commencing after 2001, the 1-year period) ending on the Determination Date shall be disregarded and (v) any rollover contribution (or similar
transfer) from a plan maintained by a corporation other than an Employer under this Plan initiated by a Participant shall not be taken into account as part of the
Participant’s aggregate Account balances under this Plan.
 

(c) Key Employee.
 In general, a “Key Employee” is an Employee (or a former or deceased Employee) who, at any time during the Plan Year (or, for Plan Years
commencing before 2002, for any of the 4 preceding Plan Years), is or was:
 

 

(i) for Plan Years commencing before 2002, an officer of an Employer having annual compensation greater than fifty percent of the amount in
effect under Code Section 415(b)(1)(A) for any such Plan Year; for Plan Years commencing after 2001, an officer of the Employer having
annual compensation greater than $130,000, as adjusted from time to time by the Internal Revenue Service; provided that, for purposes of this
paragraph, no more than fifty Employees of the Employer (or, if lesser, the greater of three Employees or ten percent of the Employees) shall
be treated as officers;

 

 

(ii) for Plan Years commencing before 2002, one of the ten Employees who have annual compensation from an Employer of more than the
limitation in effect under Code Section 415(c)(1)(A) (the defined contribution maximum) for that year and owning or considered as owning,
within the meaning of Section 318 of the Code, the largest interests in the Employer; provided that if two Employees have the same interest in
the Employer, the Employee having greater annual compensation from the Employer shall be treated as having a larger interest;

 
 (iii) a five percent or greater owner of an Employer; or
 
 

(iv) a one percent or greater owner of an Employer having annual compensation from the Employer of more than $150,000 (as adjusted by the
Internal Revenue Service).

 
For purposes of this Section 21, the term “compensation” means compensation as defined by Code Section 414(q)(7).

 
(d) Aggregated Plans.

 Each other defined contribution plan and defined benefit plan maintained by an Employer that covers a Key Employee as a Participant or that is
maintained by an Employer in order for a plan covering a Key Employee to satisfy Section 401(a)(4) or 410 of the Code shall be aggregated with this Plan in
determining whether this Plan is top-heavy. In addition, any other defined contribution or defined benefit plan of an Employer may be included if all such plans
that are included, when aggregated, will not discriminate in favor of officers, shareholders or Highly Compensated Employees and will satisfy all of the
applicable requirements of Sections 401(a)(4) and 410 of the Code.
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(e) Minimum Vesting.
 For any Plan Year in which the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan, the vested percentage of a Participant’s Accounts shall not be less than the percentage
determined under the following table:
 

Years of Service

  

Vested Percentage

Less than 2   0
2   20
3   40
4   60
5   80

6 or more   100
 

If the foregoing provisions of this Section 21(e) become effective, and the Plan subsequently ceases to be a Top-Heavy Plan, the Participant’s vested
Accounts shall not be reduced, and each Participant who has then completed three or more Years of Service may elect to continue to have the vested percentage of
such Participant’s Accounts determined under the provisions of this Section.
 

(f) Minimum Employer Contribution.
 Subject to the following provisions of this Section and Section 21(g), for any Plan Year in which the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan, the Employer
Contribution credited to each Participant who is not a Key Employee shall not be less than 3 percent of such Participant’s compensation from the Employers for
that year. In no event, however, shall the total Employer Contribution credited in any year to a Participant who is not a Key Employee (expressed as a percentage
of such Participant’s compensation from the Employers) be required to exceed the maximum total Employer Contribution credited in that year to a Key Employee
(expressed as a percentage of such Key Employee’s compensation from the Employers). Contributions made by an Employer under the Plan pursuant to
Participants’ income deferral authorizations shall not be deemed Employer Contributions for purposes of this Section. For Plan Years commencing after 2001,
employer matching contributions (as defined in Code Section 401(m)(4)(A)) shall be taken into account for purposes of this paragraph. The amount of minimum
Employer Contribution otherwise required to be allocated to any Participant for any Plan Year under this Section shall be reduced by the amount of Employer
Contributions allocated to such Participant for a Plan Year ending with or within that Plan Year under any other tax-qualified defined contribution plan maintained
by an Employer.
 

(g) Coordination of Benefits.
 For any Plan Year in which the Plan is top-heavy, in the case of a Participant who is a non-Key Employee and who is a Participant in a top-heavy
tax-qualified defined benefit plan that is maintained by an Employer and that is subject to Section 416 of the Code, Section 21(f) shall not apply, and the
minimum benefit to be provided to each such Participant in accordance with this Section 21 and Section 416(c) of the Code shall be the minimum annual
retirement benefit to which such Participant is entitled under such defined benefit plan in accordance with such Section 416(c), reduced by the amount of annual
retirement benefit purchasable with such Participant’s Accounts (or portions thereof) attributable to Employer Contributions under this Plan and any other tax-
qualified defined contribution plan maintained by an Employer.
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Section 22. EXECUTION.
 To record the adoption of this amended and restated Plan, the Company has caused its appropriate officers to affix its corporate name and seal hereto
this 22nd day of October, 2003.
 
    McGRATH RENTCORP

(SEAL)
 By:  

/s/ Dennis C. Kakures

    Dennis C. Kakures, President
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MCGRATH RENTCORP
EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP TRUST

 
THIS TRUST AGREEMENT, made as of the date hereof, by and between McGrath RentCorp, a California corporation (the “Company”), and North Star

Trust Company, not in its individual or corporate capacity, but solely in its capacity as trustee, and its successors and assigns in the trust hereby evidenced (the
“Trustee”).
 

WITNESSETH THAT:
 

WHEREAS, McGrath RentCorp adopted the McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Plan, effective January 1, 1985 (“Plan”);
 

WHEREAS, McGrath RentCorp established a trust in a separate document to implement and form a part of the Plan to be exempt from tax under Section
501(a) of the Code and to be known as the McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Trust Agreement (“Trust”), effective January 1, 1985;
 

WHEREAS, the Plan has been subsequently amended and restated in its entirety twice, effective as of January 1, 1989 and effective as of August 28, 2003.
 

WHEREAS, the Trust was by and between McGrath RentCorp and Union Bank, not in its corporate capacity, but solely in its capacity as trustee;
 

WHEREAS, Union Bank was removed as trustee of the Trust effective August 31, 2002 and Delight Saxton and Thomas J. Sauer were appointed as
successor trustee of the Trust;
 

WHEREAS, the Company now desires to amend and restate the Trust effective September 12, 2003 (the “Trust”);
 

WHEREAS, the Trust henceforth will be by and between McGrath RentCorp and the North Star Trust Company, not in its corporate capacity, but solely in
its capacity as Trustee;
 

WHEREAS, the Trustee accepts the Trust which is and becomes a part of the Plan and agrees to perform the obligations set forth in this Trust;
 

WHEREAS, the Trust shall be interpreted, whenever possible, to comply with the terms of the Code, the ERISA, and all applicable Regulations and
rulings; and
 

WHEREAS, capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings given to such terms in the Plan.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the authority delegated to the undersigned officers of the Company by resolution of its Board of Directors (the
“Board”);
 

IT IS AGREED, by and between the parties hereto, that the trust provisions contained herein shall constitute the agreement between the Company and the
Trustee in connection with the Plan and the Trust; and
 

IT IS FURTHER AGREED, that the Trustee hereby accepts its appointment as such under this Trust on the date hereof, effective as of September 12,
2003.
 

IT IS FURTHER AGREED, by and between the parties hereto as follows:
 

ARTICLE I
NAME AND ACCEPTANCE

 
Sec. 1.01. NAME. This Trust Agreement and Trust hereby shall be known as the “McGrath RentCorp Employee Stock Ownership Trust.”
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Sec. 1.02. ACCEPTANCE. The Trustee accepts the Trust established and continued herein which is and becomes part of the Plan and agrees to perform the
obligations imposed under this Trust Agreement.
 

Sec. 1.03. DEFINITIONS.
 (a) “Current Obligations” means obligations of the Trust Fund arising from expenses incurred by the Trust Fund and an extension of credit to the

Trust Fund and payable in cash within one (1) year from the date a contribution to the Plan is due.
 (b) “Dividend” means a distribution made by the Employer to its shareholders in the form of a dividend (as defined in Code Section 316) with

respect to its Employer Securities.
 (c) “Fiduciary” means any person who: (1) exercises any discretionary authority or discretionary control and management of the Plan or exercises

any authority or control and management or disposition of Plan assets; (2) renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation, direct or indirect,
with respect to any monies or other property of the Trust Fund or has any authority or responsibility to do so; or (3) has any discretionary authority or
discretionary responsibility in the administration of the Plan and the Trust Fund, including, but not limited to, the Trustee, the Committee and any person
designated under ERISA Section 405(c)(1)(B).

 (d) “General Obligations” means obligations of the Trust Fund not arising from extensions of credit to the Trust Fund, but which are commitments
which arise from authorized activities of the Trust Fund.

 (e) “Income of the Trust Fund” means the net gain or loss of the Other Investments Accounts of the Trust Fund, as reflected by interest payments,
dividends, realized and unrealized gains and losses on securities, other than Employer Securities, and on other investment transactions, and reduced by
expenses paid from the Trust Fund. The expenses of the Trust Fund do not include interest paid on any Securities Acquisition Loan.

 (f) “Investment Manager” means any person, firm, or corporation who is a registered investment advisor under the Investment Advisors Act of 1940,
a bank or an insurance company, and who has the power to manage, acquire, or dispose of Plan assets, and who acknowledges in writing his fiduciary
responsibility to the Plan.

 (g) “Plan” shall have the meaning as set forth in the preambles.
 (g) “Plan Administrator” is the Company, unless the Company designates another person or persons to hold the position of Plan Administrator. In

addition to its other duties, the Plan Administrator has full responsibility for compliance with the reporting and disclosure rules under ERISA, other than
reporting of distributions on IRS Forms 1099 and similar forms.

 (h) “Regulations” and “Treasury Regulations” means the final and temporary regulations issued by the Internal Revenue Service which interpret the
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. “Regulations” and “Labor Regulations” also means the final and temporary regulations
issued by the Department of Labor which interpret the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

 (i) “Separation from Service” or “Separates from Service” or “Separated from Service” means the Employee no longer has an employment
relationship with the Employer maintaining this Plan.

 (j) “Trust” shall have the meaning as set forth in the preambles.
 

ARTICLE II
MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF TRUST FUND

 
Sec. 2.01. TRUST FUND. The “Trust Fund” as of any date means all property of every kind held or acquired by the Trustee pursuant to this Trust. The

Trustee may manage, administer and invest all contributions made to the Trust by the Employer under the Plan as one Trust Fund. If, for any reason, it becomes
necessary to determine the portion of the Trust Fund allocable to Employees and former Employees of any Employer as of any date, the Committee shall specify
such date as an Valuation Date, and after all adjustments required under the Plan as of that Valuation Date have been made, the portion of the Trust Fund
attributable to such Employees and former Employees shall be determined and shall consist of an amount equal to the aggregate of the Participant Account
balances of Employees and former Employees of that Employer, including an amount equal to any allocable contributions made by that Employer since the close
of the immediately preceding Plan Year minus any losses on such contributions.
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Sec. 2.02. PLAN ADMINISTRATION. The Plan shall be administered by the Company, which may delegate all or a portion of its responsibilities in such
administration to the Committee or others. With respect to Plan administration, except as provided in the Plan and Section 2.04 herein, the Trustee shall have no
authority to act unless directed in writing by the Company or its delegate. The Company and each of its delegates may authorize one or more individuals to sign
all communications between the Company or its delegate, as applicable, and Trustee. The Company shall at all times keep the Trustee advised of the names of the
individuals authorized to sign on behalf of the Company, and provide specimen signatures thereof. With the Trustee’s prior written consent, the Company may
authorize the Trustee to act, without specific directions or other directions or instructions from the Company, on any matter or class of matters with respect to
which directions or instructions from the Company or its delegate are called for hereunder. The Trustee shall be fully protected in relying on any communication
sent by any authorized person and shall not be required to verify the accuracy or validity of any signature. If the Trustee requests any directions hereunder and
does not receive them, the Trustee shall act or refrain from acting, as it may determine, with no liability for such action or inaction. Notwithstanding the
provisions herein, the Trustee is the sole discretionary fiduciary with respect to borrowing money for the purpose of purchasing employer securities and for the
purchase or sale of employer securities and the holding of such employer securities.
 

Sec. 2.03. EXERCISE OF TRUSTEE’S DUTIES. The Trustee shall discharge its duties hereunder solely in the interest of Plan Participants and other
persons entitled to benefits under the Plan, and:
 (a) for the exclusive purpose of:
 (i) providing benefits to Participants and other persons entitled to benefits under the Plan; and
 (ii) defraying reasonable expenses of administering the Plan;
 (b) with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with

such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims; and
 (c) in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Trust unless, in the good faith judgment of the Trustee, the documents and instruments

are not consistent with the provisions of the Code and the ERISA.
 

Sec. 2.04. GENERAL POWERS. The Trustee has full discretion and authority with regard to the investment and reinvestment of the Trust Fund, except
with respect to a Trust asset under the control or direction of a properly appointed Investment Manager or with respect to a Trust asset properly subject to
Employer or Committee direction, as provided in Section 17(a) of the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Sections 2.02, 2.03, 2.09 and Article III herein, with
respect to the Trust Fund, the Trustee shall have, but shall not be limited to the following powers, rights and duties in addition to those provided elsewhere in this
Trust, the Plan or by law:
 (a) To invest the Trust Fund primarily in Employer Securities and to invest or reinvest the Trust Fund in any common or preferred stocks, open-end or

closed-end mutual funds, put and call options traded on a national exchange, United States retirement plan bonds, corporate bonds, debentures, convertible
debentures, commercial paper, U.S. Treasury bills, U.S. Treasury notes and other direct or indirect obligations of the United States Government or its
agencies, improved or unimproved real estate situated in the United States, limited partnerships, limited liability companies, insurance contracts of any
type, mortgages, notes or other property of any kind, real or personal, and to buy or sell options on common stock on a nationally recognized exchange
with or without holding the underlying common stock, to buy and sell commodities, commodity options and contracts for the future delivery of
commodities, and to make any other investments the Trustee deems appropriate, as a prudent person would do under like circumstances with due regard for
the purposes of the Plan;

 (b) To retain in cash (pending investment, reinvestment or the distribution of dividends) such reasonable amount as may be required to satisfy liquidity
needs of the Trust and for the proper administration of the Trust and to invest such cash as provided in Section 3.01 herein, provided, however, the Trustee
may retain reasonable amounts of cash, in its discretion, without any liability for interest;

 
Page 3



(c) To invest at a reasonable rate of interest or in a common trust fund, as described in Code Section 584, or in a collective investment fund, the provisions
of which govern the investment of such assets and which the Plan incorporates by this reference and which conforms to the rules of the Comptroller of the
Currency;

 (d) To lease for oil, gas and other mineral purposes and to create mineral severances by grant or reservation; to pool or unitize interests in oil, gas and other
minerals; and to enter into operating agreements and to execute division and transfer orders;

 (e) To hold any securities or other property in the name of the Trustee or its nominee, with depositories or agent depositories or in another form as it may
deem best, with or without disclosing the trust relationship;

 (f) To provide information available to the Trustee to enable the Company to file all tax returns required for the Trust and Plan required of the Trustee;
 (g) To receive and to hold all contributions paid to it under the Plan; provided, however, that the Trustee shall have no duty to collect or require any

contributions to be made to it, to determine that the contributions received by it comply with the provisions of the Plan or with any resolution of the Board
providing therefor;

 (h) To credit and make distributions from the Trust Fund to such persons or trusts, in such manner and at such times as directed by the Company or its
delegate without inquiring as to whether a payee or distributee is entitled to the payment, or as to whether a payment is proper, and without liability for a
payment made in good faith without actual notice or knowledge of the changed condition or status of the payee or distributee. If any payment of benefits to
be made from the Trust Fund by the Trustee is not claimed, the Trustee shall notify the Company or its delegate of that fact promptly. The Company or its
delegate will make a diligent effort to ascertain the whereabouts of the payee or distributee of benefits returned unclaimed. The Trustee shall dispose of
such payments as the Company or its delegate shall direct pursuant to the Plan. The Trustee shall have no obligation to search for or ascertain the
whereabouts of any payee or distributee of benefits from the Trust Fund;

 (i) To vote Employer Securities, as provided herein and subject to the requirements of the Code, and any other stocks, bonds or other securities held in the
Trust, or otherwise consent to or request any action on the part of the issuer in person, by proxy or power of attorney as provided herein:

 (1) Voting of Employer Securities by Participants (or Beneficiaries), notwithstanding any provision contained in the Plan to the contrary;
 (2) With respect to Shares of Employer Securities held in the Allocated Employer Securities Account, which are not part of a registration-type class

of securities (as defined in Code Section 409(e)(4)), a Participant has the right to direct the Trustee regarding the voting of such Employer Securities
allocated to his Employer Securities Account with respect to any corporate matter which involves the approval or disapproval of any corporate
merger or consolidation, recapitalization, reclassification, liquidation, dissolution, sale of substantially all assets of a trade or business, or such
similar transaction as the Treasury may prescribe in regulations. As to any Employer Securities allocated to the participant’s Employer Securities
Account which are part of a registration-type class of securities, the voting rights provided in this Subsection 2.04(i) extend to all corporate matters
requiring a vote of stockholders. The Trustee does not have the right to vote any Employer Securities which a Participant (or Beneficiary) fails to
vote as authorized by this Subsection 2.04(i);

 (3) Each Participant (or Beneficiary) who timely provides instructions to the Trustee shall be entitled to direct the Trustee how to vote Employer
Securities allocated to such Participants (or Beneficiaries) Accounts in accordance with this Subsection. In order to implement these voting
directions, the Company or the Trustee shall provide each Participant (or Beneficiary) with proxy solicitation materials or other notices or
information statements which are distributed to Company shareholders, together with a form requesting confidential instructions as to the manner in
which Employer Securities allocated to the Participants (or Beneficiaries) Employer Securities Accounts are to be voted. Each Participant (or
Beneficiary) shall, as a named fiduciary described in Section 403(a)(1) of ERISA, direct the Trustee with respect to the vote of such Employer
Securities which are allocated to the Employer Securities Account of the Participant (or Beneficiary). Reasonable means shall be employed by the
Trustee to provide confidentiality with respect to the voting by such Participant (or Beneficiary) and the Trustee shall hold such directions in
confidence and shall not divulge or release such directions to any person, including the Company or any director, officer, employee or agent of
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the Company, it being the intent of this provision of this Subsection to ensure that the Company (and its directors, officers, employees and agents)
cannot determine the direction given by any Participant (or Beneficiary). Such instructions shall be in such form and shall be filed in such manner
and at such time as the Trustee may prescribe;

 (4) With respect to shares of Employer Securities held in the Unallocated Employer Securities Account which are part of a registration-type class of
securities, the Trustee shall properly vote such Employer Securities which are held in the Unallocated Employer Securities Account of each
Participant (or Beneficiary) for or against any proposal. If all Employer Securities are held in the Unallocated Employer Securities Accounts of each
Participant (or Beneficiary) on the record date when a matter is submitted to a vote of the Company’s shareholders, the Trustee shall properly vote
such Employer Securities for or against any proposal;

 (5) Notwithstanding any provision contained in this Subsection 2.04(i), the Trustee shall not vote as directed by and shall not effectuate the
Participant (or Beneficiary) directions in a manner which are or would result in a violation of ERISA or would not be in the best interest of the
Participant (or Beneficiary);

 (6) If any provision contained in or action required by this Subsection 2.04(i) violates any provision under ERISA, the Trustee shall comply with the
provisions under ERISA;

 (j) To contract or otherwise enter into transactions between itself, as Trustee, and the Company or any Employer, or any Company shareholder or other
person, for the purpose of acquiring or selling Employer Securities and, subject to the provisions of Section 2.03 herein and the Plan, to retain such
Employer Securities;

 (k) To compromise, contest, arbitrate, settle or abandon claims and demands by or against the Trust and Trust Fund;
 (l) To begin, maintain or defend any litigation necessary in connection with the investment, reinvestment and administration of the Trust, and, to the extent

not paid from the Trust Fund and subject to Section 8.01 herein, the Employers shall indemnify the Trustee against all expenses and liabilities reasonably
sustained or anticipated by it by reason thereof (including reasonable attorneys’ fees);

 (m) To retain any funds or property subject to any dispute without liability for the payment of interest, or to decline to make payment or delivery thereof
until final adjudication is made by a court of competent jurisdiction;

 (n) To report to the Company as of the last day of each Plan Year, as of any Valuation Date (or as soon thereafter as practicable), or at such other times as
may be required under the Plan, the then “Net Worth” of the Trust Fund, which is, the fair market value of all property held in the Trust Fund, reduced by
any liabilities other than liabilities to Participants (and their Beneficiaries) in the Plan, as determined by the Trustee;

 (o) To furnish to the Company and the Committee an annual statement of account or accounts for such periods as may be required under the Plan, showing
the condition of the Trust Fund and the Net Worth of the Trust Fund at the end of the Plan Year, all investments, receipts, disbursements and other
transactions made by the Trustee during the Plan Year, covered by the statement, and such other information as the Trustee may possess which the
Company requires in order to comply with Section 103 of the ERISA. The Trustee shall keep accurate accounts of all investments and earnings thereon.
Except with respect to Participant voting records and the valuation report (if any is obtained) of the Independent Appraiser (defined at Article IV), all
accounts, books and records related to such investments shall be open to inspection by any person designated by the Company or the Committee at
reasonable times and may be audited from time to time by any person or persons as the Company, Employer or Committee may specify in writing. All
accounts of the Trustee shall be kept on an accrual basis. If, during the term of this Trust, the Department of Labor issues Regulations under the ERISA
regarding the valuation of Employer Securities or other assets for purposes of the reports required by the ERISA, the Trustee shall use such valuation
methods for purposes of the accounts described by this subparagraph. The Company may approve such accounting by written notice of approval delivered
to the Trustee or by failure to express objection to such accounting in writing delivered to the Trustee within thirty (30) days from the date upon which the
accounting was delivered to the Company. Upon the receipt of a written approval of the accounting, or upon the passage of the period of time within which
objection may be filed without written objections having been delivered to the Trustee, such accounting shall be deemed to be approved, and the Trustee
shall be released and discharged as to all items, matters and things set forth in such account, as fully as if such accounting had been settled and allowed by
decree of a court of competent jurisdiction in an action or proceeding in which the Trustee, the Company and all persons having or claiming to have any
interest in the Trust Fund or under the Plan were parties;
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(p) To pay any income or other tax, charge or assessment attributable to any benefit which it shall or may be required to pay or withhold taxes out of such
benefit; and to require before making any payment such release or other document from any taxing authority and such indemnity from the intended payee
or distributee as the Trustee shall deem necessary for its protection;

 (q) To employ and to reasonably rely upon information and advice furnished by agents, attorneys, independent appraisers, independent financial advisors,
accountants or other persons of its choice for such purposes as the Trustee considers desirable;

 (r) To assume, until advised to the contrary, that the Trust evidenced by this Trust Agreement is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and is entitled to
tax exemption under Section 501(a) of the Code;

 (s) To have the authority, in addition to Section 2.04(a), to invest and reinvest the assets of the Trust Fund, in personal property of any kind, including, but
not limited to, Employer Securities, bonds, notes, debentures, mortgages, equipment trust certificates, investment trust certificates, life insurance,
guaranteed investment contracts, preferred or common stock, common trust funds, mutual funds, collective trust funds, and registered investment
companies; provided, however, that all investments in Employer Securities shall be undertaken pursuant to the provisions of Section 3.01 herein.

 (t) To exercise, subject to the provisions of Article III herein, any options, subscription rights and other privileges with respect to the Trust Fund, to
manage, sell, contract to sell, grant options to purchase, convey, exchange, transfer, abandon, improve, repair, insure, lease for any term even though
commencing in the future or extending beyond the term of the Trust, and otherwise deal with all property, real or personal, in such manner, for such
considerations and on such terms and conditions as the Trustee decides;

 (u) To register ownership of any securities or other property held by it in its own name or in the name of a nominee, with or without the addition of words
indicating that such securities are held in a fiduciary capacity, and may hold any securities in bearer form, but the books and records of the Trustee shall at
all times reflect that all such investments are part of the Trust;

 (v) To borrow such sum or sums of money, to assume indebtedness, to extend mortgages, from time to time as the Trustee considers necessary or desirable
and in the best interest of the Plan, Trust Fund and Plan Participants, and for that purpose to mortgage or encumber or pledge any part of the Trust Fund
(subject to the provisions of Code Section 4975(c) and the Regulations issued thereunder);

 (w) To perform any and all other acts which are necessary or appropriate for the proper management, investment and distribution of the Trust Fund;
 (x) To construe and interpret the Trust. All written decisions, determinations, directions, interpretations, and applications (collectively referred to as

“determination”) of the Trust by the Trustee shall be final and binding upon all persons, including (but not limited to) the Trustee, the Company, and all
Participants and Beneficiaries unless such determination is in violation of the ERISA or any federal or state laws;

 (y) To purchase Employer Securities as an investment of the Trust, provided the Trustee does not pay in excess of adequate consideration as defined in the
ERISA;

 (z) To borrow money, to assume indebtedness, extend mortgages and encumber by mortgage or pledge; provided, however, if any loan transaction is with a
disqualified person or a disqualified person guarantees a loan to the Plan or Trust, the following terms and conditions apply to such loan:

 (1) The Trustee will use the proceeds of a loan within a reasonable time after receipt only for any of the following purposes: (i) to acquire
Employer Securities, (ii) to repay such loan, or (iii) to repay a prior Securities Acquisition Loan. Except as permitted by Regulation or applicable
law, no financed Employer Securities may be subject to a put, call or other option, or buy-sell or similar arrangement while held by and when
distributed from the Trust, whether or not the Plan is then an employee stock ownership plan;
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(2) The interest rate of the Securities Acquisition Loan may not be more than a reasonable rate of interest;
 (3) Any collateral the Trustee pledges to the creditor must consist only of the assets purchased by the borrowed funds and those assets the Trust

used as collateral on any prior Securities Acquisition Loan repaid with the proceeds of the current Securities Acquisition Loan;
 (4) The creditor may have no recourse against the Trust under the Securities Acquisition Loan except with respect to such collateral given for

the loan that the Company makes to the Trust to meet its obligations under the Securities Acquisition Loan, and earnings attributable to such
collateral and the investment of such contributions. The Company must account for such contributions and earnings on the books of account of the
Plan until the Trust repays the Securities Acquisition Loan;

 (5) In the event of default upon the Securities Acquisition Loan, the value of Trust assets transferred in satisfaction of the Securities
Acquisition Loan must not exceed the amount of default, and if the lender is a disqualified person, the loan must provide for transfer of Trust assets
upon default only upon and to the extent of the failure of the Trust to meet the payment schedule of the Securities Acquisition Loan;

 (6) The Trustee must maintain all assets acquired with the proceeds of a Securities Acquisition Loan in a Suspense Account. In withdrawing
assets from the Suspense Account, the Trustee will apply the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 54.4975-7(b)(8) as if all securities in the
Suspense Account were encumbered. Upon the payment of any portion of the Securities Acquisition Loan, the Trustee will effect the release of
assets in the Suspense Account from encumbrances pursuant to the applicable provisions in the Plan;

 (aa) To invest the Trust Fund in accordance with Participants’ diversification elections pursuant to Section 17(a) of the Plan;
 (bb) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Plan ceases to be an employee stock ownership plan after the Trustee repays the Securities Acquisition Loan, the

Employer Securities acquired by the Trust with the proceeds of an Securities Acquisition Loan shall continue to be subject to the provisions of Treasury
Regulation Section 54.4975-7(b)(4), (10), (11) and (12) relating to put, call or other options and to buy-sell or similar arrangements, except to the extent
these Regulations are inconsistent with Code Section 409(h).

 
Sec. 2.05. RESPONSIBILITY OF TRUSTEE. The Trustee shall not be responsible in any way for the adequacy of the Trust Fund to meet and discharge

any or all liabilities under the Plan or for the proper application of distributions made or other actions taken upon the direction of the Committee. The powers,
duties and responsibilities of the Trustee shall be limited to those set forth in this Trust Agreement, or as later agreed upon by the Trustee, Company, and
Committee in writing, and nothing contained in the Plan, either expressly or by implication, shall be deemed to impose any additional powers, duties or
responsibilities on the Trustee.
 

Sec. 2.06. COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES. The Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for its services, as agreed to between the
Company and the Trustee in the Trustee Engagement Agreement, dated July 1, 2003 (“Engagement Agreement”) which is incorporated herein by reference, as it
may be amended from time to time. While the payment of all amounts owed to the Trustee, other than pursuant to the indemnification provisions of the
Engagement Agreement, is the legal obligation of the Trust, the Company may pay any and all amounts owed to the Trustee pursuant to this Trustee Agreement.
To the extent the Trust is unable to pay all amounts owed to the Trustee for any reason, any unpaid amounts shall become the legal obligation of the Company and
shall be paid as soon as possible after receipt of written notice from the Trustee by the Company. The Trustee is authorized to pay from the Trust Fund all
expenses reasonably incurred by the Trustee, to the extent such fees and expenses are for the ordinary and necessary administration and operation of the Trust,
including its compensation, compensation to any agents employed by the Trustee and any reasonable accounting and reasonable legal expenses. If the Trustee is
to pay such expenses from the Trust Fund but there are not sufficient amounts in the Trust Fund to pay such expenses, the Trustee has the right (i) to offset the
amounts due to it against the Trust Fund and the Trustee shall be authorized to sell Trust assets of the Trust Fund; or (ii) to put Employer Securities to the
Company pursuant to Section 3.05 hereof, to the extent necessary to obtain sufficient cash to pay such expenses. Any fee or expense paid directly or indirectly by
the Company shall not be considered an Employer contribution to the Trust, provided the fee or expense relates to the ordinary and necessary administration of
the Trust.
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Sec. 2.07. CONTINUATION OF POWERS UPON TRUST TERMINATION. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, upon
termination of the Trust, the powers, rights and duties of the Trustee hereunder shall continue until all Trust assets have been liquidated and distributed out of the
Trust.
 

Sec. 2.08. BOND. The Trustee shall be required to provide bond pursuant to the Plan for the faithful performance of its duties under the Trust and Plan,
unless exempted pursuant to Section 412(a) of the ERISA.
 

Sec. 2.09. COMMITTEE DIRECTIONS. To the extent that decisions, determinations, directions, interpretations, and applications (collectively referred to
as “administrator’s determinations,” and each an “administrator’s determination”) of the Plan shall be within the scope of the authority of the Company or its
delegate, as plan administrator, the written communication of such administrator’s determination shall be final and binding upon all persons, including (but not
limited to) the Trustee, the Company, and all Participants and Beneficiaries unless such determination is in violation of the ERISA or any federal or state laws.
 

ARTICLE III
PROVISIONS RELATED TO INVESTMENT OF TRUST FUND

 
Sec. 3.01. INVESTMENT OF TRUST FUND. Employer contributions made in cash shall be used first to pay any Current Obligations. To the extent

permitted by applicable law, any cash dividends paid with respect to shares of Employer Securities allocated to Participant’s Accounts or held in the Suspense
Account may (as required by applicable Securities Acquisition Loan documentation) be used to repay the principal balance of an outstanding Securities
Acquisition Loan or interest thereon in whole or in part, or may be used to purchase additional shares of Employer Securities.
 

Subject to Section 2.04(aa) hereof, any cash held by the Trustee which has not yet been allocated to Participant Accounts and which is not used to repay an
Securities Acquisition Loan shall be used to purchase additional Employer Securities or invested in investments selected by the Trustee or shall remain
uninvested without liability for interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee shall not invest or reinvest any cash held in a Participant’s Account in
Employer Securities following the date the Participant terminates employment with the Employer for any reason. However, the Trustee may continue to hold
Employer Securities existing in such Participant’s Company Stock Account.
 

Whenever investment in Employer Securities of amounts held in the Trust Fund is required or permitted hereunder, such investment may be accomplished
by a sale within the Trust. Specifically, the Company Stock Accounts of Participants, former Participants, and Beneficiaries who have become entitled to cash
distributions hereunder may be liquidated by an exchange for assets held in other accounts of the Plan. The Trustee is further authorized to purchase Employer
Securities from the Company or from any shareholder, and the Employer Securities may be outstanding, newly issued or treasury stock.
 

All purchases or exchanges of Employer Securities shall be for no more than “adequate consideration,” as defined in Section 3(18) of the ERISA. If at any
time there is no generally recognized market for Employer Securities, “adequate consideration” shall mean the fair market value of such Employer Securities as
determined by an independent appraiser meeting requirements similar to those contained in Treasury Regulations under Section 170(a) of the Code. A
determination of fair market value by such an independent appraiser will be deemed to be a good faith determination of value. In the event that there is a final
determination by the Internal Revenue Service, the Department of Labor or a court of competent jurisdiction that the purchase of Employer Securities from the
Company was for more than “adequate consideration,” the Company shall be required to pay to the Trust an amount in cash equal to the difference between the
amount paid by the Trust and the amount determined to be “adequate consideration,” plus interest at 7% per annum, which the Company agrees is a reasonable
rate, from the date of the purchase of the Employer Securities to the date of the payment of the difference.
 

Sec. 3.02. STOCK SPLITS AND OTHER CAPITAL REORGANIZATION, DIVIDENDS. Any Employer Securities received by the Trustee as a stock
split or as a result of a reorganization or other recapitalization of the Company (collectively referred to as “stock split”) shall be allocated in accordance with the
terms of the Plan as of each Valuation Date under the Plan. If the Plan does not address the allocation of a stock split, the Trustee shall allocate the stock split in
proportion to the Employer Securities to which they are attributable. Cash or stock in kind dividends received by the Trustee shall be reinvested in accordance
with the terms of the Plan.
 

Sec. 3.03. VOTING OF SHARES AND TENDER OR EXCHANGE OFFERS. Employer Securities held in the Trust Fund shall be voted, tendered and
exchanged by the Trustee in the manner set forth in Section 2.04 and consistent with its duties described in Section 2.03 herein.
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Sec. 3.04. DISTRIBUTION OF TRUST FUND. The Trustee shall make all distributions in accordance with the direction of the Company or its delegate.
 

Sec. 3.05. PUT OPTION. In the event the Employer’s Securities no longer qualify as a “registration type class of securities” as such phrase is defined at
Code Section 409(c)(4) and: (i) the distribution of a Participant’s Employer Securities Account is to be made in cash, (ii) the Trustee is required to diversify a
Participant’s Employer Securities Account pursuant to the Plan, or (iii) the Trustee expects to incur substantial Trust expenses which will not be paid directly by
the Employer, and the Trustee determines that the Trust Fund has insufficient cash to make anticipated distributions or diversification or pay Trust expenses, the
Trustee shall have a “put option” on Employer Securities it holds to put such Employer Securities to the Company pursuant to the Plan for the purpose of making
such anticipated distributions, diversifications of Participant Employer Securities Accounts, and paying such expenses, and the Company agrees to honor such put
and purchase the Employer Securities as put to it by the Trustee; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to purchase Employer Securities
pursuant to this provision if it determines, in its sole discretion, that such purchase could conflict with, or result in any violation of or default under, any contract
to which the Company is a party or by which its assets are bound or any applicable order, rule or law. The Trustee will price the put of the Employer Securities for
an amount that is not less than “adequate consideration” as that term is defined in Section 3(18) of the ERISA, and on terms that are fair to the Plan from a
financial point of view.
 

Sec. 3.06. PARTICIPANT LOANS. The Trustee shall not be permitted to make loans to Participants and Beneficiaries.
 

ARTICLE IV
VALUATION OF TRUST FUND

 
The Trust Fund shall be valued at fair market value, as determined by the Trustee. If there is not a generally recognized market (as contemplated by Section

3(18)(A) of the ERISA) for shares of Employer Securities, all valuations of such securities shall be made by an “Independent Appraiser” (as described in Section
401(a)(28)(C) of the Code) retained by the Trustee, and reviewed and finalized by the Trustee, in accordance with Section 3(18)(B) of the ERISA.
 

ARTICLE V
NO REVERSION TO EMPLOYER

 
No part of the corpus or income of the Trust Fund shall revert to any Employer or be used for, or diverted to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit

of Participants and other persons entitled to benefits under the Plan, provided, however, that:
 (a) The Employer contribution under the Plan is conditioned on the initial qualification of the Plan as applied to that Employer under Sections 401(a) and

4975(e)(7) of the Code and if the Plan does not so qualify, the Trustee shall, upon written direction of the Committee, return to that Employer the amount of
such contribution and any increment thereon within one calendar year after the date that qualification of the Plan, as applied to that Employer, is denied, but
only if the application for qualification is submitted within the time prescribed by law.

 (b) If, upon termination of the Plan with respect to any Employer, any amounts are held in a Code Section 415 suspense account which are attributable to
the contributions of such Employer and such amounts may not be credited to Participant’s, such amounts, upon the written direction of the Committee, will
be returned to that Employer as soon as practicable after the termination of the Plan with respect to that Employer.

 (c) Employer contributions under the Plan are conditioned upon the deductibility thereof under Section 404 of the Code, and, to the extent any such
deduction of an Employer is disallowed by the Internal Revenue Service, the Trustee shall, upon the written direction of the Committee, return the amount
of the contribution (to the extent disallowed), reduced by the amount of any losses thereon, to the Employer within one year after the date the deduction is
disallowed.

 (d) If a contribution or any portion thereof is made by an Employer by a mistake of fact, the Trustee shall, upon written direction of the Committee, return
the amount of the contribution or such portion, reduced by the amount of any losses thereon, to the Employer within one year after the date of payment to
the Trustee.

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trustee has no responsibility as to the sufficiency of the Trust Fund to provide any distribution to an Employer under

this Article V.
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ARTICLE VI
CHANGE OF TRUSTEE

 
Sec. 6.01. RESIGNATION OF THE TRUSTEE. The Trustee may resign its position at any time by giving thirty (30) days advance written notice to the

Company, unless such notice period is waived by the Company. Upon resignation of the Trustee, the Company will provide the Trustee written notice of
appointment of a successor Trustee and their acceptance as successor Trustee.
 

Sec. 6.02. REMOVAL OF THE TRUSTEE. The Company may remove the Trustee by hand delivering or by mailing by registered or certified mail,
addressed to such Trustee at his or her or its last known address, at least thirty (30) days advance written notice of removal, subject to providing the removed
Trustee with satisfactory written evidence of the appointment of a successor Trustee and of the successor Trustee’s acceptance of the trusteeship. If two or more
persons hold the position of Trustee, in the event of the removal of one such person, during any period the selection of a replacement is pending, or during any
period such person is unable to serve for any reason, the remaining person or persons will act as the Trustee.
 

Sec. 6.03. DUTIES OF RESIGNING OR REMOVED TRUSTEE AND OF SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE. If the Trustee resigns or is removed, it shall
promptly transfer and deliver the assets of the Trust Fund to the successor Trustee, and may reserve such amount to provide for the payment of all fees and
expenses, or taxes then or thereafter chargeable against the Trust Fund, to the extent not previously paid by the Employer. The Employer shall be obligated to
reimburse the Trust for any amount reserved by the Trustee. Within one hundred twenty (120) days, the resigned or removed Trustee shall furnish to the Company
and the successor Trustee an account of its administration of the Trust from the date of its last account. Each successor Trustee shall succeed to the title to the
Trust Fund vested in the predecessor Trustee without the signing or filing of any further instrument, but any resigning or removed Trustee shall execute all
documents and do all acts necessary to vest such title or record in any successor Trustee. Each successor Trustee shall have all the powers, rights and duties
conferred by this Trust as if originally named Trustee. No successor Trustee shall be personally liable for any act or failure to act of a predecessor Trustee, and no
predecessor trustee shall be liable for any act of a successor trustee. With the approval of the Company, a successor Trustee may accept the account rendered and
the property delivered to it by its predecessor Trustee as a full and complete discharge to the predecessor Trustee without incurring any liability or responsibility
for so doing.
 

ARTICLE VII
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION

 
Sec. 7.01. AMENDMENT. While the Company expects and intends to continue the Plan and the Trust, the Company reserves the right to amend the Trust

at any time. However, no amendment may change the rights, duties and liabilities of the Trustee under the Trust Agreement without its prior written agreement,
nor reduce a Participant’s benefits to less than the amount such Participant would be entitled to receive if such Participant had resigned from the employ of the
Employer on the date of the amendment unless otherwise required or permitted by the Code or the ERISA. Amendments to the Trust shall be in writing and shall
be effective upon execution of such amendments by both the Company and the Trustee unless otherwise agreed.
 

Sec. 7.02. TERMINATION. The Trust may be terminated as to all Employees on any date specified by the Company. The Trust will terminate as to any
Employer on the first to occur of the following:
 (a) the date it is terminated by that Employer and written notice is provided thereof to the Trustee;
 (b) the date such Employer’s contributions, or contributions on its behalf to the Trust, are completely discontinued and written notice is provided thereof to

the Trustee;
 (c) the date such Employer is judicially declared bankrupt under Chapter 7 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code; or
 (d) the dissolution, merger, consolidation, or reorganization of that Employer, or the sale by that Employer of all or substantially all of its assets, except

that, with the consent of the Company, such arrangements may be made whereby the Trust will be continued by any successor to that Employer or any
purchaser of all or substantially all of that Employer’s assets, in which case the successor or purchaser will be substituted for that Employer under the Trust.
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The Trustee’s powers upon termination as described above will continue until liquidation of the Trust Fund, or the portion thereof attributable to an
Employer, as the case may be. Upon termination of this Trust, the Trustee shall first reserve such reasonable amounts as it may deem necessary to provide for the
payment of any expenses or fees then or thereafter chargeable to the Trust Fund. Subject to such reserve, the balance of the Trust Fund shall be liquidated and
distributed by the Trustee, in such form as determined by the Trustee, to or for the benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries, in such manner and at such
times as directed by the Committee after compliance with the Plan and applicable requirements of the ERISA, as amended from time to time, or other applicable
law, accompanied by a certification that the disposition is in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Trustee need not question the propriety of such
certification. The Committee shall have full responsibility to see that such manner and time of distribution is proper and within the terms of the Plan and this
Trust.
 

ARTICLE VIII
INDEMNIFICATION, APPOINTMENT OF INVESTMENT MANAGER, AND APPOINTMENT OF ANCILLARY

TRUSTEE
 

Sec. 8.01. INDEMNIFICATION. The Company shall indemnify the Trustee and its officers and agents in accordance with the terms of the Engagement
Agreement.
 

Sec. 8.02. LIMITATION ON LIABILITY - IF INVESTMENT MANAGER, ANCILLARY TRUSTEE OR INDEPENDENT FIDUCIARY APPOINTED.
The Committee and Trustee shall not be liable for the acts or omissions of any Investment Manager or an ancillary trustee appointed by the Company, nor shall
the Committee or Trustee be under any obligation to invest or reinvest or otherwise manage any asset of the Trust Fund which is subject to the management of a
properly appointed Investment Manager or ancillary trustee. The Committee, the Trustee, the Company and any properly appointed Investment Manager or
ancillary trustee may execute a letter agreement pursuant to Section 8.03 herein as a part of this Trust delineating duties, responsibilities and liabilities of the
Investment Manager or ancillary trustee with respect to any part of the Trust Fund under the control of the Investment Manager or ancillary trustee.
 

The limitation on liability described in this Section 8.02 also applies to the acts or omissions of an ancillary trustee or independent fiduciary properly
appointed under Section 8.03 hereof. However, if a Trustee, pursuant to the delegation described in Section 8.03 hereof, appoints an ancillary trustee, the Trustee
is responsible for the periodic review of the ancillary trustee’s actions and must exercise its delegated authority in accordance with the terms of the Trust and in a
manner consistent with ERISA. The Company, the Trustee and an ancillary trustee may execute a letter agreement as a part of this Trust delineating any
indemnification agreement between the parties.
 

Sec. 8.03. APPOINTMENT OF AN INVESTMENT MANAGER OR AN ANCILLARY TRUSTEE. The Company, in writing, may appoint any person or
trust company in any state to act as an Investment Manager or as an ancillary trustee with respect to a designated portion of the Trust Fund. An Investment
Manager or ancillary trustee must acknowledge in writing its acceptance of the terms and conditions of its appointment as an Investment Manager or as an
ancillary trustee and its fiduciary status under ERISA. The Investment Manager and ancillary trustee have the rights, powers, duties, and discretion as the
Company may delegate, subject to any limitations or directions specified in the instrument evidencing appointment of the Investment Manager or ancillary trustee
and to the terms of the Trust or of ERISA. The investment powers delegated to the Investment Manager or to the ancillary trustee may include any investment
powers available under Section 2.04 or Section 3.03 hereof, including but not limited to, the right to invest or reinvest any portion of the assets of the Trust Fund
in Employer Securities and to invest or reinvest any portion of the assets of the Trust Fund in a common trust fund, as described in Code Section 584, or in any
collective investment fund, the provisions of which govern the investment of such assets and which the Trust incorporates by this reference, but only if the
Investment Manager or ancillary trustee is a bank or similar financial institution supervised by the United States or by a State and the ancillary trustee (or its
affiliate, as defined in Code Section 1504) maintains the common trust fund or collective investment fund exclusively for the collective investment of money
contributed by the ancillary trustee (or its affiliate) in a trustee capacity and which conforms to the rules of the Comptroller of the Currency.
 

The Investment Manager or ancillary trustee may resign its position at any time by providing at least thirty (30) days’ advance written notice to the
Company, unless the Company waives this notice requirement. The Company, in writing, may remove an Investment Manager or ancillary trustee at any time. In
the event of resignation or removal, the Company may appoint another Investment Manager or ancillary trustee, return the assets to the control and management
of the Trustee, or receive such assets in the capacity of the Investment Manager or ancillary trustee. The Company may delegate its responsibilities under this
Section 8.03 herein to the Trustee.
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If the U.S. Department of Labor (the “Department”) requires engagement of an independent fiduciary to have control or management of all or a portion of
the Trust Fund, the Company will appoint such independent Fiduciary, as directed by the Department. The independent fiduciary will have the duties,
responsibilities, and powers prescribed by the Department and will exercise those duties, responsibilities, and powers in accordance with the terms, restrictions,
and conditions established by the Department and, to the extent not inconsistent with ERISA, the terms of the Plan. The independent fiduciary must accept its
appointment in writing and must acknowledge its status as a fiduciary of the Plan.
 

Sec. 8.04. PARTIES TO LITIGATION. Except as otherwise provided by ERISA, no Participant or Beneficiary is a necessary party or is required to receive
notice of process in any court proceeding involving the Plan, the Trust, the Trust Fund or any Fiduciary of the Plan. Any final judgment entered in any proceeding
will be conclusive as to the parties over which the court entering the judgment has jurisdiction.
 

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS

 
Sec. 9.01. DISAGREEMENT AS TO ACTS. If there is a disagreement between the Trustee and anyone as to any act or transaction reported in any

accounting, the Trustee shall have the right to have its own account settled by a court of competent jurisdiction.
 

Sec. 9.02. PERSONS DEALING WITH TRUSTEE. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be required to see to the application of any money paid or
property delivered to the Trustee, or to determine whether or not the Trustee is acting pursuant to any authority granted to it under the Trust or the Plan.
 

Sec. 9.03. THIRD PARTY AND MULTIPLE TRUSTEES. No person dealing with the Trustee is obligated to see to the proper application of any money
paid or property delivered to the Trustee, or to inquire whether the Trustee has acted pursuant to any of the terms of the Trust and Plan. Each person dealing with
the Trustee may act upon any notice, request or representation in writing by the Trustee, or by the Trustee’s duly authorized agent, and is not liable to any person
in so acting. The certificate of the Trustee that it is acting in accordance with the Trust and Plan will be conclusive in favor of any person relying on the
certificate.
 

Sec. 9.04. BENEFITS MAY NOT BE ASSIGNED OR ALIENATED. The interests of Participants, Beneficiaries and other persons entitled to benefits
under the Trust and Plan are not subject to the claims of their creditors and may not be voluntarily or involuntarily assigned, alienated or encumbered, except as
allowed pursuant to Code Section 401(a)(13) to the extent that the Committee, pursuant to the Plan, directs the Trustee that any such interests are subject to a
qualified domestic relations order, as defined in Section 414(p) of the Code.
 

Sec. 9.05. EVIDENCE. Evidence required of anyone under the Trust may be by certificate, affidavit, document or other instrument which the person acting
in reliance thereon considers pertinent and reliable, and signed, made or presented by the proper party.
 

Sec. 9.06. WAIVER OF NOTICE. Any notice required under the Trust or Plan may be waived in writing by the person entitled thereto.
 
 

Sec. 9.07. COUNTERPARTS. The Trust may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and no other
counterparts need be produced.
 

Sec. 9.08. GOVERNING LAWS AND SEVERABILITY. The Trust shall be construed and administered according to the laws of the State of California to
the extent that such laws are not preempted by the laws of the United States of America. If any provision of the Trust or Plan is held illegal or invalid, the
illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions of the Trust and Plan, but shall be severable, and the Trust and Plan shall be construed and
enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had never been inserted herein.
 

Sec. 9.09. SUCCESSORS. The Trust shall be binding on the Company, Employer and any successor thereto by virtue of any merger, sale, dissolution,
consolidation or reorganization, on the Trustee and its successor and on all persons entitled to benefits under the Plan and their respective heirs and legal
representatives.
 

Sec. 9.10. ACTION. Any action required or permitted to be taken by the Company under the Trust shall be by resolution of its Board of Directors or by a
person or persons authorized by resolution of its Board of Directors. The Trustee
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shall not recognize or take notice of any appointment of any representative of the Company or Committee unless and until the Company or the Committee shall
have notified the Trustee in writing of such appointment and the extent of such representative’s authority. The Trustee may assume that such appointment and
authority continue in effect until it receives written notice to the contrary from the Company or Committee. Any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Trustee
by authority of any representative of the Company or Committee within the scope of his or her authority shall be as effective for all purposes hereof as if such
action or nonaction had been authorized by the Company or Committee.
 

Sec. 9.11. CONFORMANCE WITH PLAN. Unless otherwise indicated in the Trust, all capitalized terms herein shall have the meaning as stated in the
Plan. To the extent provisions of the Plan and the Trust conflict, the provisions of the Trust shall govern and the Trustee’s duties and obligations shall be
determined solely under the Trust.
 

Sec. 9.12. HEADINGS. The headings and sections of this Trust Agreement are for convenience or reference only and shall have no substantive effect on
the provisions of this Trust Agreement.
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, by its duly authorized officer, and the Trustee, have caused this Trust Agreement to be signed on the 22nd day of
October, 2003, to be effective the 12th day of September, 2003.
 

“COMPANY”

MCGRATH RENTCORP

By:
 

/s/ Dennis C. Kakures

  Dennis C. Kakures, President

“TRUSTEE”

NORTH STAR TRUST COMPANY

By:
 

/s/ John G. Hommel

  John G. Hommel
  Senior Vice President and Trust Officer
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Exhibit 31.1
 

MCGRATH RENTCORP
 

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
 
I, Dennis C. Kakures, Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of McGrath RentCorp;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data; and

 
 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls
over financial reporting.

 
Date: October 30, 2003

By:
 

/s/ Dennis C. Kakures

Dennis C. Kakures
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
 

McGRATH RENTCORP
 

SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
 
I, Thomas J. Sauer, Chief Financial Officer, certify that:
 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of McGrath RentCorp;
 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange

Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

 
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure

that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

 
c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal

quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting, which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data; and

 
 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls
over financial reporting.

 
Date: October 30, 2003

By:
 

/s/ Thomas J. Sauer

Thomas J. Sauer
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

McGrath RentCorp
 

SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
 
In connection with the periodic report of McGrath RentCorp (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Dennis C. Kakures, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for
purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of my knowledge:
 (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
 (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the

dates and for the periods indicated.
 
This Certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Date: October 30, 2003

By:
 

/s/ Dennis C. Kakures

Dennis C. Kakures
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2
 

McGrath RentCorp
 

SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION
 
In connection with the periodic report of McGrath RentCorp (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2003 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Thomas J. Sauer, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for purposes of
Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of my knowledge:
 (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and
 (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company at the

dates and for the periods indicated.
 
This Certification has not been, and shall not be deemed, “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Date: October 30, 2003

By:
 

/s/ Thomas J. Sauer

Thomas J. Sauer
Chief Financial Officer


